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Mission
To Be The Best Provider of Online Lotteries, 
Sports Betting, Gaming and Other Electronically 
Distributed Products and Services

Core Values
Ethical Business Practices At All Times

Fairness In All Efforts

Excellence In Our Performance

Keep All Promises

Respect And Consideration For All
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Notice
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE is hereby given, that the Annual General Meeting of Supreme Ventures Limited will be held 
at The Knutsford Court Hotel (Grand Caribbean Suite), 11 Ruthven Road, Kingston 10, Jamaica, West 
Indies, on Tuesday, 3rd June 2014 at 10:00 a.m., to consider and (if thought fit), pass the following 
Resolutions:-

Ordinary Resolutions

1. Audited Accounts

 “That the Audited Accounts for the year ended 31st December 2013 and the Reports of the  
 Directors and Auditors, circulated with the NOTICE convening the Meeting, be and are hereby  
 adopted.”

2. Interim Dividends

 To approve and ratify interim dividends:

 To consider and (if thought fit), pass the following Resolution:-

 “That the interim dividends paid of eight cents on 17th June 2013, three cents on 2nd September  
 2013, three cents on 8th January 2014 and three cents paid on 26th March 2014, totalling  
 seventeen cents, be and are hereby declared as final and that no further dividend be paid in  
 respect of the year under review.”

3. Election of Directors

 a) In accordance with Articles 105 and 106 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the  
  following Directors retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

	 	 •	 Ian	Levy,	OD
	 	 •	 Barrington	Chisholm
	 	 •	 Brian	George

  (i)  “That Director Ian Levy, retiring pursuant to Articles 105 and 106 of the Articles of  
   Incorporation, be and is hereby re-elected.”

  (ii)  “That Director Barrington Chisholm, retiring pursuant to Articles 105 and 106 of the  
   Articles of Incorporation, be and is hereby re-elected.”

  (iii)  “That Director Brian George, retiring pursuant to Articles 105 and 106 of the Articles of  
   Incorporation, be and is hereby re-elected.”
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3. Election of Directors (continued)

 b) In accordance with Article 103 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, Messrs. Peter Chin  
  and Ian Moore having been appointed since the last Annual General Meeting shall retire, and  
  being eligible, offer themselves for election to the Board.

  (i) “That Mr. Peter Chin, be and is hereby elected a Director of the Company.”

  (ii) “That Mr. Ian Moore, be and is hereby elected a Director of the Company.”

4. Directors’ Remuneration 

 (a) “That pursuant to Article 84 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the Directors’  
  remuneration shall be such an amount as the Board of Directors, or any appropriate  
  Committee of the Board of Directors, may determine,”

 (b) “That the Directors be and are hereby empowered to fix the remuneration of the  
  Executive Director(s).”

 (c) “That the amount shown in the Accounts of the Company for the year ended  
  31st December 2013, as remuneration of the Directors for their services, be and is hereby  
  approved.”

5. Appointment of Auditors and their Remuneration

 “That Messrs. KPMG, having signified their willingness to serve, be and are hereby appointed as  
 Auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting, at a  
 remuneration to be agreed with the Directors.”

A member of the Company, entitled to attend and vote, is entitled to appoint a Proxy to attend and 
vote in his stead, and a Proxy need not be a member.

If you are unable to attend the Meeting, a Form of Proxy is enclosed for your convenience. When 
completed, this Form should be deposited with the Secretary at Sagicor Sigma Building, 8th Floor,       
63-67 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I., not less than 48 hours before the time appointed 
for the meeting. The Proxy Form should bear stamp duty of J$100.00 or its equivalent, before being 
signed. The stamp duty may be paid by adhesive stamps, which are to be cancelled by the person 
signing the Proxy.

DATED this 12th day of March 2014

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lorna Gooden
CORPORATE SECRETARY
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Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to be sharing with you, that despite a very challenging year 
in the Jamaican economic climate, the Group posted a modest profit 
after tax of $482.6M. Notwithstanding the challenges, the Board of 
Directors continued to put the return on investment for our shareholders 
in sharp focus and paid dividends of seventeen (17) cents per share, for 
the year under review.

We are heartened by the fact that the Government has passed the first 
three IMF tests and take this success with confidence, that the economy 
is poised for recovery going forward. We believe that the economic 
reforms will benefit Jamaica, by reducing unemployment and increasing 
disposable income.

Efforts to get Jamaica ready as a logistics centre, will open up substantial 
opportunities for future job creation and business development. The 
logistics hub is expected to include an information technology (IT) 
component and we recognize that a strong IT structure will be critical 
to Jamaica’s success. As internet penetration deepens in Jamaica and 
smartphone usage becomes more convenient, the mobile gaming 
potential will allow for wider distribution channels for our gaming 
products. Sports betting and lottery gaming sales will definitely benefit 
from accessibility to a mobile platform. We therefore look forward to 
the Government passing the necessary legislation, to facilitate better 
use of IT in our business operations.

The Group is also cognizant of the bids received for the integrated resort 
development programmes and the potential for large casino operations 
in western Jamaica. With the opening of our own Odyssey Gaming 
Lounge in Kingston during February 2013 and upgrading of the game 
offerings at the Acropolis Barbican in Kingston, we remain committed 
to the gaming lounge business for the local community.   

The Lottery Licence was renewed by the Betting Gaming and Lotteries 
Commission (BGLC) on 28th February 2013, with new conditions to Prime 
Sports (Jamaica) Limited. The Licence will be in effect until 10th January 
2033. We commenced lottery sales on Sundays and public holidays, in 
April 2013. This unprecedented move resulted in $2.7B of additional 

Paul Hoo 
Chairman
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revenues over 39 Sundays and 6 holidays. Included in the new Conditions, are the requirement for an 
additional cumulated US$5M to be invested by 2018 and the Company losing its share of unclaimed 
lottery prizes, with this portion now being paid to the BGLC. The total unclaimed prize funds are 
now split equally between the Culture, Health, Arts, Sports and Education Fund (C.H.A.S.E) and the 
BGLC. This is expected to have a significant impact on the Lottery’s ability to fund prize promotions, 
sponsorships and donations in 2014 and beyond.  

The Board of Directors has reviewed the Corporate Governance Code and strengthened its tenets, to 
provide greater oversight of the Company’s operations by the Board. This included a new procurement 
policy, for better efficiency and internal controls.

We appointed two new independent Directors to the Board, Messrs. Peter Chin and Ian Moore on 4th 
June 2013. They replaced retired Directors Dr. David McBean and Mr. Curtis Martin. We express our 
appreciation for the contribution Dr. McBean and Mr. Martin made to the success of the Company 
during their tenure on the Board.

The transition to KPMG Chartered Accountants as external auditors, arising from the termination of 
operations by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited in Jamaica at the end of August 2013 was a smooth 
one. The engagement was initially for independent observation of the lottery game draw proceedings. 
Full engagement for the Group’s statutory audit was awarded by the Board on 11th September 2013.

We are pleased to have brought our company secretarial services in-house, with the establishment of a 
Corporate Secretariat in June 2013. The Unit is managed by Lorna Gooden, our former Assistant Vice 
President of Group Finance. Lorna was appointed to the position of Corporate Secretary on 4th June 
2013. This appointment is in keeping with the Company’s philosophy of affording opportunities for 
growth and development to its management personnel.

We are fully committed to investing in the gaming business, notwithstanding the challenges in our 
environment. We will continue to create value and increased returns for our shareholders, while playing 
our part as a good corporate citizen.  

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank the senior executive team, staff, agents and customers, 
for their continued support and loyalty to the company.

Paul Hoo 
Chairman

Chairman’s
    Statement
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The Board of Directors of Supreme Ventures 
Limited (SVL) is collectively responsible for the 
performance of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
One of the primary responsibilities of the Board 
of Directors is to ensure that the Company and  
its subsidiaries (“the Group”), have a robust 
and effective corporate governance framework, 
which is vital to the preservation of shareholder 
value and confidence in the Group. A copy of the 
Group’s Corporate Governance Policy is available 
on our website at http://www.supremeventures.
com.

The Board has adopted an enterprise-wide  
approach to corporate governance by ensuring 
adherence to a uniform set of corporate 
governance policies and procedures throughout 
the Group. The Corporate Governance Code will 
be reviewed annually by the Board, to ensure that 
it remains relevant and is in keeping with best 
practices.

SVL’s Corporate Governance Code documents 
the corporate governance framework of the 
Group. This ensures that the Company and 
all subsidiaries adhere to a standard corporate 
governance policy that represents best practices, 
inclusive of recommendations taken from the 
Private Sector Organization of Jamaica (PSOJ) 
Corporate Governance Code and the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange (JSE) rules.

The Code:

a) Adopts best corporate governance practices  
 implemented by a public  company under the       
 guidance of the Board of Directors; 

b) Defines the procedures and processes to  

 which the Group of companies is directed  
 and controlled.

c) Specifies the distribution of rights and  
 responsibilities among the different  
 participants in the organization, such  
 as the Board of Directors, the management,  
 Shareholders and other stakeholders.

Board Responsibility
The Board’s primary responsibility is to provide 
strategic direction for the Group and approve 
management’s business plans to effect the 
strategic and operational goals. The Board sets 
the strategic direction of the Group and ensures 
that it gives management direction where needed, 
to ensure that the goals are met. The Board also 
ensures the fair and equitable treatment of all 
stakeholders, including minority shareholders.

While executing its duties, the Board takes into 
account all parties whose interests are associated 
with those of the Group, as well as creditors 
and employees who are directly affected by the 
operation of the Group. 

The Directors are expected at all times to exercise 
sound independent business judgement in what 
they reasonably believe to be in the best interest 
of the Group. In discharging that obligation, the 
Directors rely on the honesty and integrity of the 
Group’s senior management and expert advisors, 
including auditors.

SVL’s Board met twelve (12) times during 2013, to 
ensure that the Board’s mandates were effectively 
addressed.  The responsibility of the Board is 
outlined in an approved Board Charter, which 
includes the following duties and functions: 

Corporate
    Governance
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•	 Provide	strategic	direction	for	the	Group	and	 
 approve management’s business plans to  
 effect the strategic and operational goals;

•	 Articulate	 the	 organization’s	 values,	 vision,	 
 mission and strategies; 

•	 Discuss	and	approve	annual	budgets,	capital	 
 expenditures, acquisitions and divestitures;

•	 Monitor	 and	 formally	 evaluate	 the	 
 performance of senior management and 
  align executive remuneration with their  
 qualification and experience;  

•	 Install	 effective	 and	 robust	 internal	 control	 
 systems and risk management procedures;

•	 Monitor	 the	 performance	 of	 the	 Board	 
 against the strategic goals determined;

•	 Review	management’s	performance;

•	 Ensure	 that	 the	 Group’s	 obligations	 to	 
 shareholders are understood and met;

•	 Ensure	that	Board	Members	behave	ethically	 
 and promote throughout the Group,  
 behaviour that is consistent with the culture  
 and values of a high-performing organization;

•	 Create	the	right	framework	for	ensuring	that	 
 Directors meet their statutory duties.

Size and Composition of  
the Board of Directors
As at 31st December 2013, the Board was 
comprised of 11 Directors and chaired by Mr. 
Paul Hoo. The size and composition of the Board, 
permits the Board to be effective in exercising its 

powers and duties. The number of Directors as 
guided by the Articles of Incorporation should 
not exceed twelve.

The Board’s composition reflects Directors 
drawn from diverse backgrounds, thereby 
creating a balance of independence, knowledge,  
experience, leadership skills and perspectives,  
to allow the Board to work effectively. SVL’s 
Directors are recognized as strong leaders in 
their respective fields of work. Our Directors take 
care in ensuring that decisions are made after 
careful deliberation of relevant information. The 
appointment and retirement of Directors shall  
be governed first by the Articles of Incorporation 
of the Company and thereafter by standards/
criteria imposed by the Board or the Group’s 
Regulators.

Designations include Chairman, Deputy 
Chairman, President & CEO, Executive Director(s), 
Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-
Executive Director.

Independence
In determining the independence of proposed 
candidates or current members, the Board 
of Directors should consider the person not 
independent when he or she:

•	 Is	or	has	been	an	employee,	senior	executive	 
 or Chairman of the Board of Directors of the  
 Company or its subsidiaries within the last  
 three (3) years;

•	 Receives	or	has	received	during	the	12	months	 
 prior to his appointment, any compensation  

Corporate
    Governance
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 from the Group other than Board  
 membership fees approved by the General  
 Meeting of Shareholders of the Company;

•	 Has	or	had	within	 the	past	 year,	 a	material	 
 business relationship with the Company or  
 its subsidiaries, particularly as a significant  
 client, supplier or consultant to the Group 
 or as a partner, shareholder, Board member  
 or senior executive of an entity that has such  
 a relationship with the Company or its  
 subsidiaries;

•	 Has	 been	 the	 External	 Auditor	 of	 the	 
 Company or its subsidiaries or has been  
 a partner or employee of a firm that provides  
 external auditing services to the Company or  
 its subsidiaries within the last three (3) years;

•	 Has	 a	 second	degree	 kinship	with	or	 is	 the	 
 spouse of a non-independent Board member,  
 senior executive, adviser or significant  
 shareholder of the Company or its  
 subsidiaries;

•	 Controls	directly	or	indirectly	through	related	 
 parties, more than 5% of the voting rights  
 of the Company or represents a significant  
 shareholder of the Company or its  
 subsidiaries.

All Directors shall act independently and bring 
an independent mind to bear on matters coming 
before the Board.

Directors shall notify the Board of any change in 
status that may affect their Independence. When 
notified, the Board will evaluate the Director’s 
independence.

Audit & Compliance 
Committee
The Audit and Compliance Committee was 
established by the Board, to assist the Board of 
Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities 
for the financial reporting process, the system 
of internal controls, the audit process and the 
Group’s process for monitoring compliance with 
laws, regulations and the code of conduct. The 
Terms of Reference of the Committee is governed 
by an approved Charter. The quorum for the 
Committee meetings is three and this must 
include two independent members.

The functions of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee to:

•	 Monitor	 the	 integrity	 of	 the	 Financial	 
 Statements of the Group. To review  
 annual and interim reports, preliminary  
 results, announcements and any other  
 formal announcement relating to financial  
 performance;

•	 Review	arrangements	for	employees;

•	 Review	 significant	 financial	 reporting	 
 issues and judgements, summary financial  
 statements, financial returns to Regulators  
 and any financial information to be reported  
 in other documents which may impact share  
 price;

•	 Keep	 under	 review,	 the	 effectiveness	 of	 
 internal controls and risk management  
 systems, by examining steps taken by the  
 Board and management of SVL, to control
 exposure to significant risks; 

Corporate
    Governance
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•	 Monitor	 and	 review	 the	 effectiveness	 of	 
 internal audit functions, in the context of the  
 overall risk management systems;

•	 Consider	 and	 make	 recommendations	 to	 
 the Board with respect to matters for 
 approval at General Meetings, including the  
 appointment, re-appointment and removal  
 of the external auditors. In addition, the  
 Audit and Compliance Committee will  
 oversee the selection process for new  
 auditors and shall investigate issues leading  
 to the resignation of auditors where  
 applicable;

•	 Oversee	 the	 relationship	 with	 the	 external	 
 auditors;

•	 Review	 and	 approve	 the	 annual	 audit	 plan	 
 and ensure that it is consistent with the  
 scope of the audit engagement;

•	 Review	 findings	 of	 the	 external	 auditors	 
 and in particular, initiate discussions on  
 issues which may have arisen during the  
 audit, including accounting and auditing  
 judgements and levels of errors identified;

•	 Review	 the	 effectiveness	 of	 the	 services	 
 provided by the external auditors.

The committee members as at 31st December 
2013 were:

•	 Mr.	Peter	Chin	(Chairman)

•	 Mr.	Ian	K.	Levy,	OD

•	 Mr.	Georgios	Sampson

•	 Mr.	Barrington	Chisholm

•	 Mr.	Ian	Moore

Messrs. Chin and Moore were appointed to the 
Audit and Compliance Committee on 4th June 
2013, to fill the vacancy created by the retirement 
of Mr. Curtis Martin and Dr. David McBean, in 
keeping with the Board’s adopted term limit of 
seven (7) years, with respect to Independent 
Directors.

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee is the sub-committee of 
the Board of Directors, which is responsible for 
the financial management of the Group. The 
Chairman of the Board of Directors is also the 
Chairman of this Committee and may select up 
to five Directors to serve on this Committee.

The Finance Committee provides assistance to 
the Board of Directors of the Group, in fulfilling 
its responsibility to the shareholders, in respect 
of the policies and practices that relate to the 
management of the financial affairs of the Group.

The Finance Committee’s primary purpose is to:

•	 Review	management’s	plans	to	manage	the	 
 Group’s exposure to financial risk;

•	 Review	 the	 Group’s	 Business	 Plan,	 cash	 
 plan, balance sheet, and capital structure;

•	 Recommend	dividend	actions	to	the	Board	of	 
 Directors;

•	 Review	 the	 Group’s	 capital	 allocation	 
 strategy, including the cost of capital;

•	 Review	 the	 Group’s	 capital	 appropriation	 
 matters, including recommending approval  
 of those programs requiring Board approval  

Corporate
    Governance
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 and providing periodic oversight of Board- 
 approved programs;

•	 Review	 the	 Group’s	 pension	 strategy	 and	 
 its performance, health care costs and  
 funding.

Messrs. Paul Hoo, Brian George, John Graham, 
Nikolaos Nikolakopoulos, Barrington Chisholm 
and Steven Hudson were elected to serve and 
remain members as at 31st December 2013.   

Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee was organized to 
assist the Board of Directors, in approving and 
monitoring guidelines and practices, with respect 
to the compensation and benefits of officers 
as well as administering the Group’s equity-
based compensation plan. The Compensation 
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its 
fiduciary responsibilities relating to: 

•	 The	 fair	 and	 competitive	 compensation	 for	 
 the non-employee Directors;

•	 The	 compensation,	 bonuses	 and	 incentives	 
 of the Chief Executive Officer, senior  
 executives and other key employees of the  
 Group; 

•	 The	administration	of	the	general	employee	 
 welfare plans of the company.
 
The Compensation Committee is authorized to 
obtain outside legal or independent professional 
advice and secure the attendance of outsiders 
with relevant experience and expertise, if it 
considers this necessary.

The Compensation Committee is comprised 
of four members.  The Committee members 
as at 31st December 2013 were Mr. Nikolaos 
Nikolakopoulos, Mr. John Graham, Mr. Steven 
Hudson and Mr. Barrington Chisholm.

Governance and Nomination 
Committee
The Governance and Nomination Committee’s 
role is to determine the slate of Director nominees 
for election to the Group’s Board of Directors, to 
review, evaluate and recommend changes to the 
Group’s Corporate Governance Guidelines and to 
establish the processes for conducting the review 
of the Chief Executive Officer’s performance.

The Governance and Nomination Committee 
assists the Board in the following:

•	 Ensuring	that	there	is	a	formal,	rigorous	and	 
 transparent procedure for the appointment  
 of new Directors to the Board;  

•	 Identifying	 and	 recommending	 qualified	 
 candidates to fill vacancies occurring            
 between annual shareholder meetings;

•	 Assisting	the	Board	of	Directors	in	organizing	 
 itself, to discharge its duties and  
 responsibilities properly and effectively;

•	 Reviewing,	 evaluating	 and	 recommending	 
 changes to the Group’s Corporate  
 Governance and Nomination Guidelines;

•	 Performing	 such	 other	 duties	 and	 
 responsibilities enumerated in and consistent  
 with this Charter.
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The following Directors were elected to serve  
and remain members as at 31st December 2013:

•	 Mr.	Paul	Hoo
•	 Mr.	John	Graham
•	 Mr.	Barrington	Chisholm
•	 Mr.	Nikolaos	Nikolakopoulos
•	 Mr.	Ian	Levy,	OD

External Auditors
During the financial year under review, Messrs. 
Deloitte & Touche ceased operations within 
the island of Jamaica. As a result, the Board of 
Directors appointed KPMG to fill the causal 
vacancy created.

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
The attendance of the Directors of SVL at the Board and Committee meetings for the period ended
31st December 2013 is reflected in the table below:

Paul Hoo 12 - 2 - 1 1

Brian George 12 - 2 - - 1

Ian Levy 11 8 - - 1 1

John Graham 11 - 2 1 1 1

Barrington Chisholm 11 8 2 1 1 1

Steven Hudson 12 - 2 1 - 1

Georgios Sampson 12 8 - - - 1

Nikolaos Nikolakopoulos 12 - 2 - 1 1

Nicholas Mouttet 11 - - - - 1

Peter Chin* 5 5 - - - -

Ian Moore* 5 5 - - - -

Curtis Martin** 7 3 - - - 1

David McBean** 7 - - 1 - 1

Annual General
Meeting

Governance
Committe

Compensation
Committee

Finance
Committee

Audit
CommitteeBoardDirectors

* Messrs Peter Chin and Ian Moore were appointed to the Board of Directors on 4th June 2013.

** Mr. Curtis Martin and Dr. David McBean retired on 3rd June 2013, in keeping with Board adopted 
term limit of seven years with respect to Independent Directors.
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Board of
    Directors

Ian Levy, OD
Deputy Chairman

Mr. Levy is also a founding 
shareholder of the company and 
an accomplished businessman. 
He is Chairman and Managing 
Director of Ian K. (Agencies) Limited. 
Ian’s business skills have greatly 
influenced the success of Supreme 
Ventures Limited. Ian is a member 
of SVL’s Audit & Compliance and 
the Governance & Nomination 
Committees of the Board. 

He was awarded the National 
Order of Merit (Chevalier de l’Ordre 
National du Merite) from the 
Government of France in 2005. 
In 2012, Ian received the honour 
of Order of Distinction from the 
Jamaican Government.

Brian George
President & CEO

Mr. George joined the company 
in 2003 and brings a wealth of 
experience in lottery and gaming 
operations. Under Brian’s stewardship, 
the company has adopted an 
innovative and aggressive approach 
to marketing its products and services. 
He is a member of SVL’s Finance 
Committee of the Board. 

Brian was appointed Chairman of 
the Board of Directors of the Ports 
Security Corps and as a Director of 
the Development Bank of Jamaica 
Limited in March 2012. He is also a 
Board member of the CHASE Fund in 
Jamaica.

Paul Hoo 
Chairman

Mr. Hoo is a founding shareholder of 
the company and brings a wealth of 
experience in business development 
and operations. He was nominated 
for the Jamaica Observer Business 
Leader of the Year Award in 2001. 
Paul is also Chairman of SVL’s Finance 
and the Governance & Nomination 
Committees of the Board.
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Peter Chin 
Director

Mr. Chin has over 30 years experience 
in the fields of investment and 
financial management, commercial 
lending and project finance and has 
provided such services to major local 
and international institutions. He is 
the President of Alliance Investment 
Management Limited.

Peter was appointed Chairman of 
SVL’s Audit & Compliance Committee 
of the Board effective 4th June 2013.

John Graham 
Director

Mr. Graham is an Attorney-at-Law 
and brings his knowledge and 
experience in civil litigation, advocacy, 
commercial law and conveyancing to 
the Board. 

John is a member of SVL’s Finance, 
Compensation and Governance & 
Nomination Committees of the Board.
He has also served as a Director on a 
number of Boards in the private and 
public sector. 

Nikolaos Nikolakopoulos 
Director

Mr. Nikolakopoulos is the Managing 
Director for the Latin America region 
of INTRALOT, a leading provider of 
state-of-the-art integrated gaming 
solutions to lottery and gaming 
organizations worldwide. He has 
previously held a number of senior 
positions in multinational Information 
Technology companies, including 
Microsoft, INTRACOM Group, among 
others. 

Nikos was appointed Chairman of 
SVL’s Compensation Committee of the 
Board effective 4th June 2013. He is 
also a member of the Board’s Finance 
and Governance & Nomination 
Committees.
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Board of
    Directors

Barrington Chisholm 
Director 
 
Mr. Chisholm is a retired Banker 
with a distinguished and successful 
career at the Scotiabank Group. 
Barry is a member of SVL’s Audit & 
Compliance, Finance, Compensation 
and Governance & Nomination 
Committees of SVL’s Board. 

He is also Chairman of the National 
Insurance Fund of Jamaica and 
a Director of the Board of the 
Development Bank of Jamaica.  
Barry is also a Justice of the Peace.

Georgios Sampson 
Director

Mr. Sampson has extensive 
international business experience  
and brings a wealth of knowledge in 
contract negotiation to the gaming 
industry. He has been an executive 
with Intralot S.A. since 2003. He is 
currently the Director of Finance and 
Business Development for Intralot 
Latin America Inc. Georgios is a 
member of SVL’s Audit & Compliance 
Committee of the Board.

Steven Hudson
Director

Mr. Hudson brings to the Board 
over 18 years of knowledge and 
experience in business and the 
hospitality industry. His work 
experience includes the hotel and 
restaurant industry. He is currently 
the Managing Director of Bearings 
and Seals Limited, one of Jamaica’s 
major distributors of automotive and 
industrial parts. Steven is a member 
of SVL’s Finance and Compensation 
Committees of the Board.
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Ian Moore 
Director

Ian Moore has over 25 years of 
consulting experience, specializing in 
Telecommunications and Information 
Technology strategy and Project 
Leadership. He is the Chairman of 
Adjoined Business Solutions. He is a 
member of SVL’s Audit & Compliance 
Committee of the Board. 

Ian previously Chaired the Petroleum 
Corporation of Jamaica and was also 
a Director of the Port Authority of 
Jamaica and the Central Information 
Technology Office (CITO). 

Nicholas Mouttet 
Director

Mr. Mouttet brings a wealth of 
experience in international marketing 
and business negotiations, to the 
strategic planning process for SVL’s 
Board. He is also Chairman of Agri-
Link Limited in Trinidad and a Director 
of INTRALOT Caribbean Ventures. 

* Lorna Gooden
 Corporate Secretary
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Senior
    Managers

Brian George                                           
President & CEO

James Morrison                                    
Vice President, 
Group Finance & CFO

David Chavez                                          
General Manager, VLT Operations

Georgios Souris                                       
Vice President, Sport Betting Operations

Janette Conie                                   
Asst. Vice President,
Group Human Resources

Andrew Bromley                                      
Vice President, 
Group Security & SurveillanceNote:  Mr. Nigel Warmington demitted office on 6th January 2014
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Lancelot Thomas                              
Asst. Vice President, Strategic  
Planning & Risk  Management

Vassilis Hadjidiakos                         
Asst. Vice President, Group Budget &
Management Reporting

Tashia Hutton                                  
Group Compliance Manager

Michael Smith                                  
Group Information  
Technology Manager

Sonia Davidson                                   
Vice President, 
Group Corporate Communications

Wayne Boodasingh                                  
Vice President, 
Group Properties and Facilities
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Management Discussion
    And Analysis

This Management Discussion and Analysis reviews the consolidated 
financial results of the Group for the year ended 31st December 
2013. This report is provided as a supplement to and should be 
read in conjunction with, the Group’s financial statements and 
accompanying notes, which have been audited by KPMG Chartered 
Accountants. The statements are presented in Jamaican dollars.

COMPANY OVERVIEW
The Supreme Ventures Group is in the business of providing our 
customers the best gaming experience Jamaica has to offer. In addition 
to its major role as Jamaica’s leading lottery provider, the Group is 
among the industry leaders in the provision of entertainment in the 
form of sports betting and video lottery terminals. The company 
also distributes electronic PIN codes from its lottery terminals.

ECONOMIC OVERVIEW
The Jamaican economy continued to face major challenges in 2013.  

Key economic statistics which affected the performance of the 
business include:

•	 Point-to-point	 inflation	 trended	 upward	 for	 the	 calendar	 year	 
 ending at 9.7%, 1.70% higher than the 8.00% for the  
 corresponding period in 2012. 

•	 Gross	 Domestic	 Product	 (GDP)	 for	 the	 first	 nine	 months	 fell	 
 compared to the corresponding period in 2012. However, July  
 to September 2013 (Q3) recorded the first real GDP growth  
 since December 2011 (Q4). 

•	 The	 depreciation	 of	 the	 Jamaican	 dollar	 continued	 in	 2013,	 
 ending the year at $106.38, a 14.42% devaluation from the  
 $92.97 at the end of 2012. 

•	 Unemployment	rose	to	14.90%	(2012:	14.00%)	as	the	effects	 
 of temporary employment programmes faded and  
 businesses faced uncertainty about the future. Female  
 unemployment rose by 1.70% to 20.00%, while  
 males remained relatively steady,  

Brian George                                           
President & CEO
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 increasing by only 0.10% to 10.60%.

•	 Remittances	 increased	 by	 1.10%.	 This		 
 would represent an even greater injection  
 of the Jamaican currency into the economy  
 as a result of the devaluation of the dollar  
 during the year.

•	 The	 country’s	 debt	 burden	 increased	 by	 
 $170Bn or 10.00%.

•	 Net	 International	 Reserves	 have	 plummeted	 
 as the Jamaican dollar depreciated. This made  
 it more difficult for companies to acquire  
 US dollars for capital expansion and dividend  
 payments.

•	 The	number	of	visitors	staying	over	in	Jamaica	 
 in 2013 increased by 0.73% over 2012.

GAMING MARKET
The $35Bn gaming market is dominated by 
lottery products. Based on the Betting, Gaming 
and Lotteries Commission (BGLC) Annual Report 
for the fiscal year 2012/2013, lottery products 
represent 71.02%, VLT gaming 8.48% and 
horse-racing and sports betting 20.50%. 

The Group currently operates in a:

•	 Non-competitive	lottery	market

•	 Competitive	VLT	market	

•	 Competitive	sports	betting	market

VLT data released by the BGLC suggests that the 
market of approximately $3.019Bn has remained 
effectively unchanged in Jamaican dollars. 
However, when adjusted for the depreciated 
dollar, the market actually contracted by 6.3%. 
The Kingston Metropolitan Area accounts for 
72% of this market, while Montego Bay’s market 
share is 17%.  The BGLC defines a gaming lounge 
as a location with twenty (20) or more VLT seats 
and noted that there were approximately twenty 
eight (28) VLT gaming lounges in operation.

Population data from the Statistical Institute of 
Jamaica (STATIN) shows a marginal increase in  
the population which means that the gaming 
market of approximately 1.82M is essentially 
unchanged. 

Figure 1: Revenues by Market 
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Year in Review
The Group continued to focus on its core 
products, while striving to provide our customers 
with the best gaming experience. This led to the 
amalgamation of three companies in the Group’s 
betting, gaming and lottery operation, into one 
company, Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited to 
improve operating efficiencies and ensure that 
our synergies were concentrated on our major 
lines of business. 

The challenges faced in 2013 which materially 
impacted the financial results included:

1. Coping with an increased tax burden imposed  
 by the Government, that came into effect in  
 March 2013

2. Managing our exposure to changes in Cash  
 Pot prize liabilities

3. Managing our foreign currency risk exposure,  
 given the rapid devaluation of the Jamaican  
 dollar

4. Maintaining our VLT market share in  
 challenging economic conditions

5. Growing our Sports Betting business,  
 which continued to be hindered by the delay  
 in the implementation of Government’s  
 Sports Betting Regulations

The lottery line of business performed well, in 
a market where disposable income was greatly 
limited by the implementation of additional 
tax measures by the Government in March 
2013. These measures included increases in 
gaming taxes, BGLC fees, and a change in the 
structure for Good Causes Fees (CHASE) from 
lottery sales. In addition, the fifty percent (50%) 
share of unclaimed prizes that was previously 
retained by the company was required to be 
paid over to the BGLC. Previously, the Company’s 
share of unclaimed prizes was utilized for  
prize promotions, sponsorships and donation 
programmes.

Additional tax measures introduced were: An 
increase in education taxes and stamp duty, tax 
on dividends, as well as new and increased taxes 
relating to workers in the VLT gaming lounges 
and lottery agents. 

Our lottery technology provider, GTECH, 
completed it’s planned phase 1 roll-out of a new 
high-tech lottery terminal for the Company’s 
distribution network, in October 2013. The 
terminals are more efficient in throughput,  
reduce paper wastage and ergonomically 
friendly. The new machines will be installed in 
three phases. One hundred and twenty-five (125) 
terminals were installed in 2013. 

Management Discussion
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In December 2013, the company began 
broadcasting its lottery draws from a new high 
definition, state-of-the-art studio operated 
by the RJR Communications Group. This new 
agreement facilitated the lottery nightly draws to 
be presented an hour later at 8:25pm, thereby 
extending betting time by an hour. The number 
of Dollaz! Game draws was also increased from 
one to four times daily.

The restaurant operations at Acropolis Barbican 
was closed in December 2012, with our exit from 
hospitality services. The restaurant operations 
have been leased to Ribbiz Ultra Lounge which 
was opened in December 2013. Ribbiz provides  
patrons with restaurant and bar services, as well 
as entertainment in the form of live music and 
events.   

The lounge in Montego Bay that was closed in 
late 2012 was renovated and re-opened in March 
2013, after rebranding as “Acropolis Montego 
Bay.” However, due to the decline in the Montego 
Bay economy, the Group decided to exit that 
market on 3rd January 2014. 

Acropolis Portmore was temporarily closed in 
January 2013. The upgraded and rebranded 
lounge, “The Castle,” was re-opened on 23rd 
December 2013.

Other improvements at the VLT gaming lounges 
include:

1. Ticket in, ticket out gaming, which reduces  
 the use of coins/tokens or cash at the machines

2. A VLT monitoring system, for complete and  
 accurate generation of reports

Management Discussion
   And Analysis
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With our JustBet brand gaining market popularity, 
the Group, in an effort to expand its customer base 
in sports betting, opened 16 new flagship sports 
betting locations islandwide. This expansion 
brought to 28, the number of company-owned 
and operated locations across the island. 

JustBet continues to pioneer the sports betting 
experience in Jamaica. The brand maintains 
its market leadership with its wide range of 
international betting products. 

Operating Results
In 2013, the Group’s revenues totaled 
$34.140Bn, an increase of $4.414Bn or 14.85% 
when compared to 2012. However, gross profits 
contracted by $726.568M or 17.90%, due to 
increased direct expenses outpacing the gains 
from revenue growth over 2012. The decrease in 
gross profits can be directly attributed to:

1. The decline in VLT gaming revenue.

2. High Cash Pot liabilities of 74.54% for 2013,  
 compared to 70.94% for 2012 and game  
 design of 72.22%.

3. Increased statutory lottery taxes introduced  
 in March 2013, as well as the loss of unclaimed  
 prizes.

4. A decline in margins from the sale of phone 
  credit (Pin Codes), due to lower discount  
 rates received from the telecommunications  
 providers.

5. Increased expenses arising from the  
 depreciation of the Jamaican dollar.

The net effect of additional operating expenses 
and other gains led to a decrease in EBITDA of 
$745.147M or 44.09%. The resulting net profit 
after tax was $482.569M, 55.03% lower than 
2012’s result of $1.073Bn. 

Earnings per share were 18 cents as compared to 
41 cents in the corresponding year.

Figure 2: Net Profit for the Year
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Just Bet winner Orville C (right) accepts his cheque from
Andrei Roper of Supreme Ventures Limited
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Statement of Financial Position
Total assets decreased by $333.002M or 5.89%, 
due mainly to a decrease in cash and trade and 
other receivables. Cash was impacted by the 
high Cash Pot liabilities, while trade and other 
receivables were partially impacted by the sales 
outstanding from our agents. In 2012, there were 
five (5) days of sales outstanding as compared 
to three (3) days in 2013. In addition, a Super 
Lotto Jackpot was won in Jamaica on the 29th 
of December 2012 and as such, all the relevant 
jackpot contributions and taxes due from 
members of the Super Lotto consortium were 
included in the receivables. 

Shareholders’ Equity also decreased mainly 
because of the change in retained earnings, 
which was due to the distribution of dividends 
combined with lower profits than the previous 
year. The Group’s long-term liabilities which are 
loans borrowed for funding capital projects, 
decreased by $140.855M or 39.21%. No new 
funds were obtained in 2013.

Trade and other payables were affected by the 
payment schedule of expenses associated with 
PIN Codes. 2013 had higher expenses payable for 
PIN Codes and an increase in inventory bought, 
due to higher demand for PIN sales from the 
lottery terminals. 

Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income
Revenue growth of 14.85% in 2013 was 
achieved primarily through the lottery segment. 
Lottery revenues benefitted from additional 
selling days (Sundays and Public Holidays), as well 
as the betting churn derived from increased prize 
payouts in Cash Pot, increasing by 13.35%. Sports 

betting and PIN codes increased by 15.59% and 
46.92% respectively, while VLT gaming revenues 
decreased by 16.80%. The change in Regulations 
resulted in a reduction of 86.89% from unclaimed 
prizes. 

Direct expenses increased by 20.03% as high 
liabilities, increased taxes, lower margins and 
the depreciation of the Jamaican dollar directly 
affected these expenses. Operating expenses 
increased by $114.694M or 4.32%, which was 
lower than the inflation rate for the calendar year. 
This had a net effect on our efforts to contain 
operating costs without materially affecting 
the business operations. A key indicator of the 
improved oversight on operating expenses was 
the 50% reduction in the ratio of bad debts 
to revenues. This had a numerical value of 
$46.914M.

Other gains were $99.211M comprising refunds 
from GTECH, for promotions related to the Cash 
Pot game and recovery of doubtful debts related 
to PIN Codes. The reduction in both interest 
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FIGURE 3: 5 Year Revenue Graph
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income and finance costs is a reflection of the 
impact of the NDX on our local financial market.

The effective tax rate for the year was 32.14% 
(2012: 25.92%) and was driven by increased 
corporate income tax for 2013.    

Dividends
Based on 2013’s profits, the Company declared 
dividends of $448.334M or 17 cents, the final of 
which was paid on the 26th of March 2014. This 
represented 92.91% of the Company’s net profit 
for the year. Dividends of $738.432M or 28 cents 
was paid to shareholders on 2012’s net profit, 
representing 68.81% of profits. 
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FIGURE 4: Five Year Statistical Review
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Figure 5: Quarterly Results for 2013

* 2009 DATA IS FOR 14 MONTHS OF OPERATION; ALL OTHER YEARS ARE FOR 12 MONTHS

FIGURE 4: Five Year Statistical Review (Cont’d)
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Lottery Products
Lottery revenues totaled $29.559Bn when 
compared to $26.078Bn in 2012, a 13.35% 
increase. Of the nine lottery games in operation, 
six had increased revenues while three recorded 
lower revenues (the Pick games). In April 2013, 
the company began operating lottery games on 
Sundays and Public Holidays with the exception 
of Good Friday and Christmas Day.  There were 
1,103 actively selling terminals as at the 31st of 
December of 2013 compared to 1,089 in 2012.

Management Discussion
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Figure 7: Lottery Revenues

Figure 6: Quarterly Results for 2012
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Cash Pot
Cash Pot dominated the lottery game portfolio 
with revenues of $23.015Bn, a 21.36% increase 
over the prior year. Cash Pot revenues represent-
ed 77.86% of the lottery revenues and 67.41% 
of total revenues. However, high liabilities for 
2013 negatively impacted the company’s operat-
ing profit, in spite of these increased revenues. 
Cash Pot liability was above the game design 
(72.22%) for three of the four quarters, ending 
the year with an average liability of 74.54% in 
2013, as compared to 70.94% in 2012. 

Two four (4) week long promotions were carried 
out in 2013: 

1. Cash Pot Coloured Ball Promotion  
 ( 8th April – 4th May)

2. Cash Pot “Big Bang” Promotion  
 (10th November – 7th December)

Management Discussion
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Figure 8: Cash Pot Quarterly Liability for 2014

Figure 9: Cash Pot Revenues *2009-2013

Pick Family
The Pick family of games consists of Pick 2, Pick 3, 
and Pick 4. Pick 4 was introduced in mid-January  
of 2012. Collectively, the games generated 
revenues of $4.144Bn, which was $906.696M 
less than the previous year. All three games had 
decreased revenues. Pick 4’s revenue decline 
accounted for 80.92% of the $906.696M. The 
game registered such a steep relative decline 
because the game was new to consumers in  
2012, and as such, generated much more 
excitement than in the 2013 financial year. All 
three games operated within their game liability 
and designs.
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Figure 10: Pick Family Revenues *2009-2013

The first promotion for Pick 4 since the inception 
of the game was launched on 18th August 
(Multiple Chance Promotion) and lasted for four 
(4) weeks. There was a similar promotion for Pick 
3, also for four (4) weeks commencing on 6th 
October.

Lotto
Lotto revenues increased for the first time since 
the introduction of the Super Lotto game in 
2009, showing year over year growth of 10%.
There were 10 Jackpot winners for the year, with 
Jackpots ranging from $15M to $130M. 
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Figure 11: Lotto Jackpots Won in 2013 Figure 12: Lotto Revenues *2009 – 2013
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Lucky5 & Dollaz!
Both games had combined revenues of 
$577.478M, with Lucky5 increasing by 11.86% 
and Dollaz!  by 34.00%. The increase in Dollaz! 
revenues can be partially attributed to the 
increase in the number of draws from one (1) to 
four (4) daily, as of 1st December 2013. 

Lotto Jackpot winner C. Wilson
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Figure 13: Lucky5 & Dollaz Revenues *2009 – 2013

Figure 14: Super Lotto Revenues *2009-2013

Super Lotto
Super Lotto is a multi-jurisdictional game which 
is played across several Caribbean countries: 
Anguilla, Antigua & Barbuda, Barbados, 
Bermuda, Dominican Republic, Jamaica, St. Kitts 
& Nevis, St. Maarten and the United States Virgin 
Islands. 

The game recorded growth of $126.835M or 
24.40%, second in growth percentage only to 
Dollaz!. All four jackpots won last year were in 
Barbados.

Super Lotto benefitted from the ‘Doubler’ prize 
payout promotion that began on 15th June 
2013 and ended on 12th July 2013.  The value 
of all subsidiary prizes was doubled during the 
promotion period.
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Figure 15 above shows the percentage contribution to sales for each participating territory, for 2012 
and 2013. In 2013, revenues in Jamaica accounted for 49% when compared to 44% in 2012, with 
LILHCo’s contribution decreasing by 2% and DR by 3%.

Figure 15: Contribution of each Region to Super Lotto Revenues

VLT Gaming
The company operated six gaming lounges in 
2013, generating $529.439M in revenues, a 
16.80% decline when compared to the prior year.  

Management Discussion
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Sports Betting 
Sports betting is marketed and sold under the 
JustBet brand. Revenue for the financial year was 
$266.224M or $35.91M (15.59%) above the 
prior year, with the number of selling terminals 
increasing by forty one (41). 

The growth of the business continues to be 
hindered by the delay in the implementation 
of the Sports Betting regulations. This delay 
will continue to affect the Group’s ability to 
expand its agent network, and by extension, 
the business. Nevertheless, the Group, 
as part of our strategy to expand in that 
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Figure 16: Gaming Revenues *2009-2013

 Figure 17: Sports Betting Revenues *2009-2013

market, was able to successfully increase  
the number of sales outlets to 157 islandwide. 

PIN Codes
Total revenues from electronic PIN Codes for the 
year 2013 were $3.697Bn, a 46.92% increase 
when compared to the $2.517Bn recorded in 
2012. The margins from this line of business 
were negatively impacted by the reduced rates 
received from the telecommunications providers, 
effective March 2013. 
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Other Revenues 
Due to the recent change in the law regarding 
unclaimed prizes and the closure of the 
hospitality line of business, other revenues fell  
to $88.625M, down from $264.628M in the 
previous year.
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Figure 18: PIN Codes Sales *2009-2013

Figure 19: Direct Expenses Summary

Direct Expenses
Direct expenses totalled $30.808Bn, growing by $5.141Bn or 20.03%. Factors that affected the 
direct expenses include:
1. High Liabilities especially for the Cash Pot game, resulted in a higher than projected  
 pay-out ratio compared to the prior year (2013: 74.54%, 2012: 70.94%)
2. Increase in lottery gaming tax effective 1st April 2013
3. Change in the contribution to BGLC and Good Causes Fees (CHASE)
4. Increase in cost of sales for PIN codes
5. The depreciation of the Jamaican dollar
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Segment Results
Lottery is the most mature segment of the Group’s 
business and it has yielded significant revenue, 
as the Cash Pot game has become part of the 
cultural fabric of Jamaica. The lottery segment 
had net assets of over $877M, with a net results 
of $1.184Bn in 2013, compared to a net profit of 
$1.546Bn in 2012. 

VLT gaming is the most capital intensive part of 
the Group’s business and 2013 was particularly 
difficult. The segment spent $114.649M in 
capital expenditure, while incurring $194.904M 
in depreciation and amortization. The VLT 
gaming segment had over $2.1Bn in assets, with 
only $161M in liabilities at the end of 2013. With 
the challenges in the VLT gaming market, the 
segment recorded a net loss of $553M in 2013 
compared to a net loss of $251M in 2012.

The Group’s JustBet sports betting brand was 
launched in 2010 and grew to $266.224M in 
revenues, in 2013. The segment already has 
a strong net asset position of $147.334M. 
However, like the VLT gaming segment, it is a 
capital intensive operation and required $49.47M 
worth of capital investment in 2013, to gain 
market share, as against J$1.72M in 2012. The 
segment also recorded higher prize payouts, so 
sports betting made a loss of $129.62M in 2013, 
compared to $93.609M in 2012. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
Our Approach

The SVL Group considers risk as anything that 
could significantly affect the achievement of 
our business objectives.  Therefore, the Group is 
exposed to many different types of risks through 
the various activities performed in fulfillment of 
its objectives.  We classify our business objectives 
into four main areas:

1. Strategic Objectives – high-level  
 organizational goals, aligned with the  
 Group’s vision and mission

2. Operating Objectives – internal standards  
 of efficiency and effectiveness

3. Financial Reporting Objectives – internal  
 and external reporting requirements

4. Compliance Objectives – adherence to  
 statutory and regulatory requirements

Our risk management framework is geared 
towards effective management of the risks 
related to the above objectives.  The Group takes 
an enterprise-wide approach to the identification, 
assessment, treatment and communication of 
risks.  The framework is developed based on the 
nature and extent of the Group’s activities and 
takes authoritative reference and/or guidance 
from the following sources:

•	 Companies	Act,	2004

•	 Jamaica	Stock	Exchange	rules	and	 
 regulations

•	 Other	local	statutory	and	regulatory	 
 requirements
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•	 COSO	Framework

•	 ISO	31000:2009

Our Risk Management Structure

One of the main objectives of our risk management 
framework is to enhance our confidence and risk 
intelligence in seeking to maximize stakeholder 
returns while safeguarding existing assets.  The 
framework is administered through its different 
components, which are:

•	 Board	of	Directors	including	its	Audit	 
 Committee

•	 Senior	Management	&	Business	Units

•	 Strategic	Planning	&	Risk	Management	Unit

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility 
for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 
risk management framework.  One of the Board’s 
critical responsibilities is to set the Group’s risk 
appetite, which includes managing the risks 
affecting the Group’s strategic objectives.  The 
Board’s risk management mandate is carried out 
primarily through its Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has oversight for the 
management of risks relating to the Group’s 
financial reporting and internal control objectives.  
This includes monitoring the systems for ensuring 
the integrity of the financial statements, 
reviewing the effectiveness of the systems of 
internal control, overseeing the risk management 
program as well as setting and monitoring risk 
limits and controls.  Risk limits and controls are 
integral to the risk management process, as they 
characterize the Board’s risk tolerance as well as 
that of the regulators.  
Senior management and business units support 
the entity’s risk management approach, promote 

compliance with its risk appetite, and manage 
risks within their spheres of responsibility based 
on risk limits set by the Board’s Audit Committee.  
The business units are responsible for the day-to-
day identification and response to risk exposures 
within their limits and the prompt communication 
of issues to senior management. 

Our management approach, business policies 
and processes allow us to place the ownership 
and accountability for risks with our business 
units, since they are intimate with the changing 
nature of risks and are best able to act on our 
behalf in managing and mitigating those risks.  
Ongoing risk management support and oversight 
is provided by the Strategic Planning & Risk 
Management unit.

One of the critical responsibilities of the Strategic 
Planning & Risk Management unit is to establish 
and monitor effective systems for promoting 
risk intelligence and proper risk communication 
across the Group.  The unit includes the critical 
function of Compliance.  Compliance manages 
the Group’s system for adherence to statutory 
and regulatory requirements.

The Strategic Planning & Risk Management unit 
also works closely with the Group’s Internal Audit 
function.  The scope and direction of all internal 
audit work is set and reviewed by the Board’s 
Audit Committee.  A key responsibility of our 
Internal Audit function is to provide objective 
assurance to the Board (through the Audit 
Committee) on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management activities, to verify that key 
business risks are being managed appropriately 
and that the system of internal control is  
operating effectively.  Therefore, the internal  
audit role plays a key role in evaluating the Group’s 
risk management processes and advocating their 
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continued improvement. However, to preserve 
its organizational independence and objectivity, 
the internal audit function does not take any 
direct responsibility for making risk management 
decisions or executing the risk management 
processes.

The Role of Policies & Procedures

Policies define and express the Group’s overall 
risk appetite and are developed based on the 
risk culture of our business units, and subject to 
the relevant regulatory requirements.  Policies 
set the boundaries on the types of risks the 
Group is prepared to assume and specify the 
manner in which the Group assumes these 
risks.  Appropriate policies and procedures are 
established throughout the organization and are 
approved by the Audit Committee. 

Our Business Risks

The main business risks faced by the Supreme 
Ventures Group are described and analyzed in 
Note 37 of the audited financial statements.

OUTLOOK
The positive vote of confidence from the IMF, the 
World Bank and the Inter-American Development 
Bank has given many businesses some sign of 
hope for improvement in Jamaica’s economy. The 
Group is still focusing on managing its operations 
efficiently, while giving customers the best 
possible user experience. Acropolis Montego Bay 
was closed in January 2014 to reduce operating 
losses.
In March, 2014, the operations of our Regional 
Retail Centre formerly located at 28 Half Way Tree 

Road in Kingston was amalgamated with the VLT 
operation at State Mall, a few metres down the 
road. This will result in savings in lease, security 
and maintenance expenses.

Management is also cognizant of keeping 
expenses under control in this economic 
environment. As such, steps will be taken to 
further optimize operations by consolidating 
corporate offices. This will result in the reduction 
of rent and associated utilities.

The management team will pursue various 
strategies to expand the lottery business, the first 
of which is the potential introduction of a new 
game. We will also restructure and vary some 
of the features in existing games, to make them 
more exciting for our customers. 

As part of the Group’s more focused plan, VLT 
gaming lounges in the Kingston Metropolitan 
Area will be the main target for growth, through 
the upgrading of the gaming floors with new 
game themes. The anti-Money Laundering 
Legislation regulations will play a crucial role in 
the execution of our compliance activities.

The Group still awaits the amended sports 
betting regulations from the  Government, which 
will facilitate the more cost-efficient expansion 
of our agent network. There are also plans to 
introduce a wider variety of sporting events and 
betting options, for our customers to bet on. It 
is expected that the FIFA World Cup in Brazil will 
boost our customers’ excitement for the betting 
game. 

We will also be looking at the introduction of social 
space gaming, such as pre-recorded horseracing 
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and virtual horseracing, for diversification of our 
product portfolio.

The Board and management team of the 
Supreme Ventures Group remain optimistic that 
the business will be successful in achieving our 
strategic objectives for 2014. This will positively 
impact returns for our shareholders.
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Pictorial
    Highlights

Andrew Bromley (left) – Vice President of Security and 

Surveillance hands over the sponsorship cheque for 

the Supreme Ventures 2-Year-Old Horseracing Series 

to David Hobson – Executive Marketing Manager of 

Caymanas Track Limited

Lucky5 winner M. Bacchus

Super Lotto winner from Barbados – Trevor King  

with J$197M jackpot cheque

Deputy Chairman – Ian Levy, OD (left) hands over a cheque 
for procurement of the motor vehicle parts to Police 
Commissioner – Owen Ellington
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Super Bowl Lyme at the Acropolis

Business House Volleyball sponsored by  Supreme Ventures

Ovril Ebanks (left) – Administrator for the Supreme Ventures 

Foundation hands over a sponsorship cheque to Christopher 

Samuda of the Jamaica Paralympic Association

TVJ personality Dahlia Harris passes off the ball to Jennifer 

‘Jenny Jenny’ Small during a Celebrity vs Masters Netball 

match sponsored by Supreme Ventures

Danielle Douglas (left) – Administration Officer hands over a Lotto Jackpot cheque to J McGowan
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The Company’s Corporate 
Secretariat was established 
in June 2013, to ensure that 
Supreme Ventures Limited  
and its subsidiaries comply  
with certain statutory 
obligations. These include 
obligations under the 
Companies Acts and the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange. 
The Secretariat also ensures 
the Group’s legal rights and 
obligations are identified, 
protected and complied with. 

The Secretariat deals with 
all matters relating to the 
Company’s Shareholders, the 
Board of Directors and is the 
repository for all contractual 
arrangements.

The Corporate Secretary is 
Lorna Gooden and the  
Assistant Corporate  
Secretary is Junett Robinson.

The Supreme Ventures 
Corporate Secretariat can  
be contacted at:
Supreme Ventures Limited - 
Knutsford Office
8th Floor,  
Sagicor Sigma Building
63 Knutsford Boulevard
Tel:   (876) 906-8603
        (876) 908-3573
        (876) 908-0990
Fax:  (876) 754-9577
Email: svlsecretariat@svlotteries.com

Corporate
    Secretariat

Lorna Gooden
Corporate Secretary

Lorna joined the Company in 2001. She 
possesses over 8 years of experience in 
the audit and accounting field, gained 
through her past employment with Deloitte 
& Touche, one of the leading international 
auditing firms. She was an integral part 
of the Finance team since joining the 
company, holding senior roles, with her last 
post being Assistant Vice President-Group 
Finance, a position she held since 2006.

She is a Chartered Accountant and a 
Fellow of both the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Jamaica (ICAJ) and 
the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants (ACCA) – UK.  She holds 
an Honours Diploma in Business 
Administration, Accounting major from the 
University of Technology (formerly C.A.S.T.).

Lorna has a passion for youth related 
community service and as such, is an 
avid member of the Sunset Optimist 
Club of Kingston, of which she is a Past 
President.  She previously held the post of 
Lt. Governor for Zone 3 of the Caribbean 
District Optimist International and is also 
the Finance Chair for the Peter Stewart 
Memorial Scholarship Fund.

Junett Robinson
Assistant Corporate Secretary

Junett joined the company in 2005, 
as Executive Assistant to the President 
& CEO. She was later promoted to 
Group Manager - Administration, with 
responsibility for office administrative 
management throughout the Supreme 
Ventures Group. During that tenure, 
she was also charged with assisting 
in Corporate Secretarial duties for the 
Supreme Ventures Foundation.

She holds a degree in Business 
Administration from the Northern 
Caribbean University, among other 
professional qualifications and is currently 
pursuing her professional accreditation as 
a Chartered Secretary, via the Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrator 
(ICSA).

She has a zeal for community activities 
and is a member of the Sunset Optimist 
Club of Kingston.
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Directors’
    Report

The Directors present their Annual Report with the Group Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income of Supreme Ventures 
Limited and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31st December 2013, 
together with the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Report
31st December 2013

Operating Results           
              $’000

Gross Profit                                                         3,331,398
 
Profit before taxation from continuing operations     711,092
Taxation (    228,523)
                                                                                                            
Profit for the year        482,569
 
Earnings per stock 
 18.30 Cents

Dividends

The Directors recommend that the interim dividends of: eight cents per ordinary stock unit, paid on 
17th June 2013; three cents per ordinary stock unit, paid on 2nd September 2013; three cents per 
ordinary stock unit, paid on 8th January 2014; three cents per ordinary stock unit, paid on 26th March 
2014, totalling seventeen cents be and are hereby declared as final and that no further dividend be 
paid for the year under review. 

Directors

The members of the Board of Directors as at 31st December 2013 were as follows:

Mr. Paul Hoo - Chairman
Mr. Ian Levy, OD - Deputy Chairman
Mr. Brian George  - President/CEO
Mr. John Graham
Mr. Nikolaos Nikolakopoulos

Lorna Gooden
Corporate Secretary
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Directors’
    Report

Directors (continued)

Mr. Barrington Chisholm 
Mr. Steven Hudson
Mr. Georgios Sampson
Mr. Nicholas Mouttet
Mr. Peter Chin *
Mr. Ian Moore *

Pursuant to Articles 105 and 106 of the Articles of Incorporation, one-third of the Directors (or the 
number nearest to one-third) will retire at the Annual General Meeting.

* On 20th March 2013, the Board of Directors agreed to adopt a seven-year term limit with respect to 
Independent Directors.  Messrs. Chin and Moore were appointed to the Board on 4th June 2013, to 
fill the vacancy created on the retirement of Mr. Curtis Martin and Dr. David McBean, in keeping with 
Board adopted term limit of seven years with respect to Independent Directors

Company Secretary

Miss Lorna Gooden**

** Miss Lorna Gooden was appointed Corporate Secretary on 5th June 2013, following the resignation 
of the previous Company Secretary, Winsome Minott.

External Auditors

During the Financial Year under review, Deloitte & Touche ceased operations within the island of 
Jamaica. As a result, the Board of Directors appointed KPMG to fill the causal vacancy created.

The Auditors, KPMG, have indicated their willingness to serve, and offer themselves for appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Lorna Gooden
CORPORATE SECRETARY
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Group Statement of Financial Position
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2013

Notes 2013 2012* 2011*
$’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property and equipment 4 1,837,079 1,847,331 1,758,475
Goodwill 5 571,681 571,681 571,681
Other intangible assets 6 79,133 102,961 131,455
Long-term receivables 8 448,756 333,665 316,407
Available-for-sale investments 9 5,711 14,759 1,883
Investment in joint venture 10 34,221 34,221 34,221
Deferred tax assets 11 251,956 409,345 196,571
Other assets 12 27,224 5,908 -        

Total non-current assets 3,255,761 3,319,871 3,010,693

Current assets
Inventories 13 76,457 48,418 101,813
Income tax recoverable 48,871 17,520 11,495
Trade and other receivables 15 468,672 610,582 462,709
Cash and cash equivalents 16 1,474,083 1,660,455 1,418,477

Total current assets 2,068,083 2,336,975 1,994,494

Total assets 5,323,844 5,656,846 5,005,187

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders' equity

Share capital 17 1,967,183 1,967,183 1,967,183
Capital reserve 18 62,486 62,486 62,486
Retained earnings 19 1,613,250 1,763,623 1,297,103

Total shareholders’ equity 3,642,919 3,793,292 3,326,772

Non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities 20 77,000 216,555 189,444
Deferred tax liabilities 11 13,309 37,876 85,231

Total non-current liabilities 90,309 254,431 274,675

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 1,128,574 968,529 726,575
Prize liabilities 22 320,634 337,642 264,301
Current portion of long-term liabilities 20 141,408 142,708 214,605
Income tax payable -        160,244 198,259

Total current liabilities 1,590,616 1,609,123 1,403,740

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 5,323,844 5,656,846 5,005,187

The financial statements on pages 3 to 69 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 26, 2014 
and signed on its behalf by:

__________________________ Director ______________________ Director
Paul Hoo Brian George

* Restated (see note 39)

The financial statements on pages 49 to 115 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 26, 2014 
and signed on its behalf by:
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2013

Notes 2013 2012*
$’000 $’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 23 34,140,265 29,726,146

Direct expenses 24 (30,808,867) (25,668,180)

Gross profit 3,331,398 4,057,966

Operating expenses 25 ( 2,768,146) ( 2,653,452)

Profit from operations 563,252 1,404,514

Interest income 46,408 53,098

Net foreign exchange gains 26 30,707 35,945

Finance costs 27 ( 28,486) ( 39,791)

Other gains 28 99,211 -

Profit before taxation from continuing operations 29 711,092 1,453,766

Taxation 30 ( 228,523) ( 376,880)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 482,569 1,076,886
Discontinued operations
Loss for the year from discontinued operations 31 - ( 3,797)

Profit for the year, being total comprehensive 
income for the year 482,569 1,073,089

Earnings per stock unit 32

Continuing operations 18.30 cents 40.83 cents

Including discontinued operations 18.30 cents 40.69 cents

*Restated (see note 39)
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Group Statement of Changes in Equity
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended December 31, 2013

Share Capital Revaluation Retained 
capital reserve reserve earnings Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(Note 17) (Note 18) (Note 19)

Balance as at December 31, 2011
As previously reported 1,967,183 62,486 160,350 1,293,238 3,483,257
Prior year adjustment (note 39) - - (160,350) 3,865 ( 156,485)

As restated 1,967,183 62,486 - 1,297,103 3,326,772

Profit for the year
As previously restated - - - 1,069,224 1,069,224
Prior year adjustment (note 39) - - - 3,865 3,865

As restated - - - 1,073,089 1,073,089

Other comprehensive income for 
the year, net of tax

As previously reported - - 76,813 - 76,813
Prior year adjustment (note 39) - - ( 76,813) - ( 76,813)

As restated - - - - -

Total comprehensive income for 
the year, as restated - - - 1,073,089 1,073,089

Transactions with shareholders
Distributions (note 36) - - - ( 606,569) ( 606,569)

Balance as at December 31, 2012
as restated 1,967,183 62,486 - 1,763,623 3,793,292

Balance as at December 31, 2012
As previously reported 1,967,183 62,486 237,163 1,755,893 4,022,725
Prior year adjustment 2011 - - (160,350) 3,865 (   156,485)
Prior year adjustment 2012 - - ( 76,813) 3,865 ( 72,948)

As restated 1,967,183 62,486 - 1,763,623 3,793,292

Profit for the year, being total 
comprehensive income for the year - - - 482,569 482,569

Transactions with shareholders
Distributions (note 36) - - - ( 632,942) ( 632,942)

Balance as at December 31, 2013 1,967,183 62,486 - 1,613,250 3,642,919
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Group Statement of Cash Flows
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2013

2013 2012*
$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 482,569 1,073,089
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property and equipment 200,928 187,322
Amortisation of other intangible assets 27,953 29,573
Transfer from property and equipment

to profit or loss - 197
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 16,399 28,286
Impairment of available-for-sale investments 9,048 2,124
Amortisation of other assets 6,393 656
Unrealised exchange loss on long-term liabilities - ( 832)
Exchange gains on long-term receivables ( 34,076) ( 25,438)
Effect of exchange rate changes on 

cash and cash equivalents 1,721 ( 12,158)
Impairment losses recognised on trade receivables 58,032 78,946
Impairment losses on other receivables - 26,000
Interest income (     46,408) ( 53,098)
Interest expense 28,486 39,791
Taxation 228,523 376,880

Operating cash flow before movement in working capital 979,568 1,751,338

Decrease/(increase) in operating assets/liabilities
Inventories (     28,039) 53,395
Trade and other receivables 81,301 ( 254,602)
Trade and other payables 80,927 232,314
Prizes liabilities ( 17,008) 73,341

Cash generated by operations 1,096,749 1,855,786
Income tax paid ( 287,296) ( 681,049)
Interest paid ( 29,786) ( 37,034)

Cash provided by operating activities 779,667 1,137,703
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property and equipment (   222,134) ( 309,011)
Acquisition of other intangible assets (       4,125) ( 1,079)
Acquisition of other assets (     27,709) ( 6,564)
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 15,059 4,350
Long-term receivables ( 71,975) 3,564
Interest received 39,945 44,497

Cash used in investing activities ( 270,939) ( 264,243)

Cash flows from operating and investing activities carried forward 508,728 873,460

* Restated (see note 39)
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Group Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year ended December 31, 2013

2013 2012*
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating and investing 
activities brought forward 508,728 873,460

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid ( 553,824) ( 606,569)
Loans received - 100,000
Loans repaid ( 139,555) ( 106,222)
Lease obligations paid - ( 30,849)

Cash used in financing activities ( 693,379) ( 643,640)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ( 184,651) 229,820

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,660,455 1,418,477
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash 

held in foreign currency ( 1,721) 12,158

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
THE END OF THE YEAR 1,474,083 1,660,455

* Restated (see note 39)
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Company Statement of Financial Position
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Company Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2013

Notes 2013 2012* 2011*
$’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property and equipment 4 122,796 154,766 184,005
Goodwill 5 189,953 189,953 189,953
Other intangible assets 6 321 889 1,920
Investment in subsidiaries 7 1,944,412 1,948,990 1,853,568
Long-term receivables 8 1,126,703 843,083 894,943
Available-for-sale investments 9 5,711 14,759 1,883

Total non-current assets 3,389,896 3,152,440 3,126,272

Current assets
Income tax recoverable 8,914 7,759 2,576
Inventories 13 74,676 40,160 90,715
Due from subsidiaries 14 295,250 440,353 241,702
Dividend receivable - - 18,137
Trade and other receivables 15 120,044 116,956 92,743
Cash and cash equivalents 16 250,685 130,451 164,454

Total current assets 749,569 735,679 610,327

Total assets 4,139,465 3,888,119 3,736,599

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders' equity

Share capital 17 1,967,183 1,967,183 1,967,183
Capital reserve 18 62,486 62,486 62,486
Retained earnings 19 1,252,638 1,209,691 1,019,502

Total shareholders’ equity 3,282,307 3,239,360 3,049,171

Non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities 20 77,000 216,555 189,444
Deferred tax liability 11 13,309 13,454 20,188

Total non-current liabilities 90,309 230,009 209,632

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 617,744 276,042 302,386
Current portion of long-term liabilities 20 141,408 142,708 175,410
Income tax payable 7,697 - -

Total current liabilities 766,849 418,750 477,796

Total equity and liabilities 4,139,465 3,888,119 3,736,599

The financial statements on pages 3 to 69 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February
26, 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

__________________________ Director ______________________ Director
Paul Hoo Brian George

*Restated (see note 39)

The financial statements on pages 49 to 115 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 26, 2014 
and signed on its behalf by:
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Company Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Company Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2013

2013 2012*
Notes $’000 $’000

Revenue 23 3,945,397 2,789,168

Direct expenses 24 (3,585,766) (2,425,883)

Gross profit 359,631 363,285

Dividend income from wholly-owned subsidiaries 36(b) 675,000 820,000

Operating expenses 25 (   458,193) ( 455,148)

Interest income 112,136 99,700

Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains 26 ( 3,212) 1,335

Finance costs 27 (     27,922) ( 39,148) 

Other gains 28 26,000 -

Profit before taxation 29 683,440 790,024

Taxation 30 ( 7,551) 6,734

Profit for the year, being total comprehensive
income for the year 675,889 796,758

*Restated (see note 39)
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Company Statement of Changes in Equity
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended December 31, 2013

Share Capital Revaluation Retained 
capital reserve reserve earnings Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(Note 17) (Note 18) (Note 19)

Balance as at December 31, 2011
As previously reported 1,967,183 62,486 38,180 1,018,162 3,086,011
Prior year adjustment (note 39) - - (38,180) 1,340 ( 36,840)

Balance at December 2011, as restated 1,967,183 62,486 - 1,019,502 3,049,171

Profit for the year
As previously reported - - - 795,418 795,418
Prior year adjustment (note 39) - - - 1,340 1,340

As restated - - - 796,758 796,758
Other comprehensive income for 

the year, net of tax
As previously reported - - 26 - 26
Prior year adjustment (note 39) - - ( 26) - ( 26)

As restated - - - - -

Total comprehensive income for 
the year, as restated - - - 796,758 796,758

Transactions with shareholders
Distributions (note 36) - - - ( 606,569) ( 606,569)

Balance as at December 31, 2012 1,967,183 62,486 - 1,209,691 3,239,360

Balance as at December 31, 2012
As previously reported 1,967,183 62,486 38,206 1,207,011 3,274,886
Prior year adjustment 2011 - - (38,180) 1,340 ( 36,840)
Prior year adjustment 2012 - - ( 26) 1,340 1,314

As restated 1,967,183 62,486 - 1,209,691 3,239,360

Profit for the year, being comprehensive 
income for the year - - - 675,889 675,889

Transactions with shareholders
Distributions (note 36) - - - ( 632,942) ( 632,942)

Balance as at December 31, 2013 1,967,183 62,486 - 1,252,638 3,282,307
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Company Statement of Cash Flows
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Company Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31, 2013

2013 2012*
$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 675,889 796,758
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property and equipment 23,655 29,878
Dividend income (675,000) (820,000)
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries 4,578 4,578
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments 9,048 2,124
Impairment loss on other receivables 26,000
Amortisation of other intangible assets 568 1,112
Effect of exchange rate changes on 

cash and cash equivalents 3,055 ( 289)
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 10,578 21,851
Interest income (112,136) ( 99,700)
Interest expense 27,922 39,148
Taxation 7,551 ( 6,734)

Operating cash flow before movement in working capital ( 24,292) ( 5,274)

(Decrease)/increase in operating assets/liabilities
Inventories (  34,516) 50,555
Trade and other receivables ( 35,705) ( 59,234)
Due from related parties 145,103 (163,681)
Trade and other payables 262,584 ( 26,344)

Cash generated by/(used in) operations 313,174 (203,978)
Income tax paid ( 1,154) ( 5,183)
Interest paid ( 29,222) ( 38,517)

Cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 282,798 (247,678)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property and equipment ( 2,263) (  22,490)
Acquisition of other intangible assets - ( 81)
Long-term receivables (255,299) 16,890
Investment in subsidiaries - (100,000)
Interest received 116,432 93,721

Cash used in investing activities (141,130) ( 11,960)

Cash flows from operating and investing activities carried forward 141,668 (259,638)

*Restated (see note 39)
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Company Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Company Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year ended December 31, 2013

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating and investing activities 
brought forward 141,668 (259,638)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend received 675,000 838,137
Dividend paid (553,824) (606,569)
Loan received - 100,000
Loans repaid (139,555) (106,222)

Cash (used)/provided by financing activities ( 18,379) 225,346

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 123,289 (  34,292)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the year 130,451 164,454

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held
in foreign currencies ( 3,055) 289

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 250,685 130,451

Restated (see note 39)
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

1. Identification

Supreme Ventures Limited (the Company) is a public limited liability company which is listed on 
the Jamaica Stock Exchange. The Company’s registered office is located at the 4th Floor, R. 
Danny Williams Building, 28-48 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.

The main activities of the Company are the management of its subsidiary companies 
(subsidiaries) and the sale of mobile phone pin codes.

The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “the Group” and are all 
incorporated in Jamaica.

The subsidiaries that are consolidated and their principal activities are as follows:

Percentage
Name of company Principal activity ownership

%
Supreme Ventures Lotteries Limited

and its wholly owned subsidiary: Lottery operations – inactive* 100
Bingo Investments Limited Lottery operations – inactive 100

Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited
and its wholly-owned subsidiary: Betting, gaming and lottery

operations* 100
Chillout Ventures Limited Gaming operations 

(not yet in operation) 100
Supreme Ventures Financial Services Limited Not trading* 100
Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited Sports betting* 100

*Effective February 28 and March 31, 2013 respectively, the Company carried out an exercise to 
amalgamate its subsidiaries as follows:

(i) Transfer of the assets and operations of Supreme Ventures Lotteries Limited and Big ‘A’ 
Track 2003 Limited to Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited.

(ii) Transfer of the assets and operations of Supreme Ventures Financial Services Limited to 
Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited.

As a consequence of the foregoing, Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited, which is now licensed by the 
Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Commission (BGLC) to carry out betting, gaming and lottery
operations, is the Company’s principal operating subsidiary.

In addition to the entities above, the Group also includes Jamaica Lottery Company Limited,
which has been placed into members’ voluntary liquidation.
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance:

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and comply with 
the relevant provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act (“the Act”).

New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during the 
year

Certain new, revised and amended standards and interpretations came into effect during the 
current financial year.  The Group has adopted the following new standards and 
amendments to standards, including any consequential amendments to other standards, 
applicable to its operations, with a date of initial application of January 1, 2013. The nature 
and effects of the changes are as follows:

(i) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (2011)

As a result of IFRS 10 (2011), the Group has changed its accounting policy for 
determining whether it has control over and consequently whether it consolidates its 
investees. IFRS 10 introduces a new control model that focuses on whether the 
Group has power over an investee, exposure or rights to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and ability to use its power to affect those returns.  The 
Group has therefore reassessed the control conclusion in respect of its investees as at 
January 1, 2013.  This has however, not resulted in any changes to the control 
conclusions previously determined.

(ii) IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

As a result of IFRS 11, the Group has changed its accounting policy for its interest in 
joint arrangements.  Under IFRS 11, the Group has classified its interest in joint 
arrangements as either joint operations (if the Group has rights to the assets, and 
obligations for the liabilities, relating to an arrangement) or joint ventures (if the 
Group has rights only to the net assets of an arrangement).  When making this 
assessment, the Group considers the structure of the arrangements, the legal form of 
any separate vehicles, the contractual terms of the arrangements and other facts and 
circumstances.  Previously, the structure of the arrangement was the sole focus of 
classification.  The Group has re-evaluated its involvement in its joint arrangements 
and has determined that no reclassification is required. There has been no impact on 
the recognised assets, liabilities and comprehensive income of the Group.

(iii) IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

As a result of IFRS 12, the Group expanded its disclosures about its interest in 
subsidiaries.
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d):

New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during the 
year (cont’d)

Certain new, revised and amended standards and interpretations came into effect during the 
current financial year.  The Group has adopted the following new standards and
amendments to standards, including any consequential amendments to other standards, 
applicable to its operations, with a date of initial application of January 1, 2013. The nature 
and effects of the changes are as follows (cont’d):

(iv) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single framework for measuring fair value and making 
disclosures about fair value measurements when such measurements are required or 
permitted by other IFRSs.  It unifies the definition of fair value as the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  It replaces and 
expands the disclosure requirements about fair value measurements in other IFRSs, 
including IFRS 7.  Consequently, the Group has included additional disclosures in 
this regard [see note 37(e)].

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the Group applied the new 
fair value measurement guidance prospectively and has not provided any 
comparative information for new disclosures.  Notwithstanding the above, the change 
had no significant impact on the measurements of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

(v) Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (Amendments to IAS 1)

As a result of the amendments to IAS 1, items of other comprehensive income (OCI) 
that may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future are presented separately from 
those that would never be reclassified to profit or loss.  Also, the title of the statement 
has changed from Statement of Comprehensive Income to Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income.
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2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d):

New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are 
not yet effective:

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, certain new, revised and amended 
standards and interpretations, have been issued which are not yet effective and which the 
Group has not early-adopted. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new 
standards, amendments and interpretations with respect to its operations and has 
determined that the following may be relevant to its operations and has concluded as 
follows:

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2010), the previous version of IFRS 9 issued in 2009 
and is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017
(previously January 1, 2015). The standard retains but simplifies the mixed 
measurement model and establishes two primary measurement categories for 
financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. The revised standard includes 
guidance on classification and measurement of financial liabilities designated as fair 
value through profit or loss and incorporates certain existing requirements of IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement on the recognition and de-
recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. The Group is assessing the 
impact that the standard will have on its 2017 financial statements.

• Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
Non-financial Assets, which is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014, reverse the unintended requirement in IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement, to disclose the recoverable amount of every cash-generating unit to 
which significant goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets have been allocated. 
The amendment requires the recoverable amount to be disclosed only when an 
impairment loss has been recognised or reversed. The Group is assessing the impact 
that this standard may have on its 2014 financial statements.

• Amendments to IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting, which is effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2014, adds a limited exception to IAS 39, to provide 
relief from discontinuing an existing hedging relationship when a novation that was 
not contemplated in the original hedging documentation meets specific criteria. The 
Group is assessing the impact that this standard may have on it 2014 financial 
statements.
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2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d):

New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are 
not yet effective (cont’d):

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, certain new, revised and amended 
standards and interpretations, have been issued which are not yet effective and which the 
Group has not early-adopted. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new 
standards, amendments and interpretations with respect to its operations and has 
determined that the following may be relevant to its operations and has concluded as 
follows (cont’d):

• Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of 
interest in Other Entities and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 
The amendment defines an investment entity and requires a parent that is an 
investment entity to measure its investments in particular subsidiaries at fair value 
through profit or loss instead of consolidating those subsidiaries in its consolidated 
and separate financial statements. In addition, the amendments introduce new 
disclosure requirement related to investment entities in IFRS 12 Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities and IAS 27 Separate financial Statements. The Group is 
assessing the impact that this standard may have on it 2014 financial statements.

• IFRIC 21 Levies is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2014. It provides guidance on accounting for levies in accordance with the 
requirements of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,
The interpretation defines a levy as an outflow from a entity imposed by a 
government in accordance with legislation. It requires an entity to recognise a 
liability for a levy when and only the triggering event specified in the legislation 
occurs. The Group is assessing the impact that this standard may have on it 2014
financial statements.

(b) Basis of measurement:

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the inclusion of 
available-for-sale investment at fair value.

(c) Functional and presentation currency:

The financial statements are presented in Jamaica dollars ($), which is the functional currency of 
the Company and each of its subsidiaries.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements:

The preparation of the financial statements to conform to IFRS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of, and disclosures relating to, assets, 
liabilities and contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and 
expenses for the year then ended. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.  
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2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (cont’d):

The preparation of the financial statements to conform to IFRS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of, and disclosures relating to, assets, 
liabilities and contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and 
expenses for the year then ended. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, and future 
years, if the revision affects both current and future period.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the 
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next 
financial year are presented below:

(i) Allowance for impairment losses on receivables

In determining amounts recorded for impairment of accounts receivable in the financial 
statements, management makes judgements regarding indicators of impairment, that is, 
whether there are indicators that suggest there may be a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows from accounts receivable, for example, repayment default and 
adverse economic conditions. Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated 
future cash flows from impaired accounts receivable, as well as the timing of such cash 
flows. Historical loss experience is applied where indicators of impairment are not 
observable on individual significant accounts receivable and total trade accounts receivable 
with similar characteristics, such as credit risks.

(ii) Residual value and expected useful life of property and equipment

The residual value and the expected useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at each 
financial year-end, and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is 
accounted for.  The useful life of an asset is defined in terms of the asset’s expected value-
in-use to the company.

(iii) Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets is dependent upon management’s 
internal assessment of future cash flows from these cash-generating units that gave 
rise to the goodwill. That internal assessment determines the amount recoverable 
from future use of those units. In addition, the estimate of the amount recoverable 
from future use of those units is sensitive to the discount rates used.



Supreme Ventures Annual Report 2013        65

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of consolidation:

(i) Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the 
acquisition date, which is at the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquired entity; 
plus 

• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-
existing interest in the acquired entity; less

• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of 
pre-existing relationships. Such amounts generally are recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity 
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are 
expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date.

(ii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Group. The Company controls an entity 
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.  The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control 
ceases.
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (cont’d):

(iii) Loss of control

On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related 
to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in 
profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such 
interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost.

(iv) Joint venture arrangement

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake 
an economic activity that is subject to joint control over the financial and operating 
policies. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the total 
recognised gains and losses of joint ventures on the equity accounting basis. If the 
Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in a joint venture the Group’s carrying 
amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued, except to 
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of a joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports gains, 
the Group resumes recognising its share of those gains only after its share of gains 
equals the share of losses not recognised.

(v) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Balances and transactions between companies within the Group, and any unrealised 
gains arising from those transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions between the Group
and its associate and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the associate or joint venture.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

(b) Segment reporting:

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from 
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate
to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s results 
are reviewed regularly to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and 
assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.  

Segment results are reported to the Group’s executive management (collectively considered 
the chief operating decision maker) which includes items directly attributable to a segment 
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

All transactions between business segments are conducted on an arm’s length basis, with 
intersegment revenue and cost eliminated on consolidation. Income and expenses directly 
associated with each segment are included in determining business segment performance.
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(c) Property and equipment:

(i) Owned assets

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost (see also note 39) accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses [see note 3(f)]. Cost includes expenditures that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, plus 
related borrowing costs and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a 
working condition for its intended use.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
with the part will flow to the Group and its costs can be measured reliably. The costs of 
day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

(ii) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, with the exception of freehold land on which no 
depreciation is provided, are depreciated on the straight-line basis at annual rates estimated 
to write down the assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives. The 
depreciation rates are as follows:

Freehold buildings 40 years
Leasehold improvements 10 years
Machine and equipment 10 years 
Video lottery terminal equipment 5-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3-10 years
Computer equipment 3-5 years 
Motor vehicles 5-8 years 
Signs and posters 5-10 years 

No depreciation is provided on freehold land, art and paintings.

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting 
date.
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d) Intangible assets:

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries and other business 
ventures. It comprises the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of 
the net identifiable assets acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is 
allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment. Negative 
goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised directly in profit or loss.

(ii) Licences

Licences and permits are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.  Amortisation methods, useful life and residual value are reviewed at 
each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate, with the effect of any changes in the 
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.  Amortisation is charged on the 
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. The useful life is estimated to be 5 years.

(iii) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.  Amortisation is charged on the straight-line basis 
over its estimated useful life.  Amortisation methods, useful life and residual value 
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate, with the effect of any 
changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.  

The amortisation rates are as follows:

Computer software 3 years
Software user rights 10 years

(iv) De-recognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from use or disposal.  Gains or losses arising from the de-recognition of an 
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e) Taxation:

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the income for the year, using tax rates enacted 
at the financial year end, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on laws that have been enacted at the reporting date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be realised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised. 

(f) Impairment:

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated 
at each reporting date. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of 
an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses in respect of cash generating units are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the 
carrying amount of other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. Impairment losses are 
recognised in Group profit or loss.

Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that the loss event has an impact on the 
future cash flows on the asset that can be estimated. Objective evidence that financial assets 
are impaired can include default or delinquency by a customer or counterparty or indicators 
that the customer or counterparty will enter bankruptcy. 

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument 
below its cost is also objective evidence of impairment. When a decline in the fair value of 
an available-for-sale investment has been recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that 
had been recognised directly in other comprehensive income is recognised in Group profit 
or loss even though the investment has not been derecognised.

The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in Group profit or loss is the 
difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss 
previously recognised in Group profit or loss.
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(f) Impairment (cont’d):

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Group’s investments in held-to-maturity securities 
and loans and receivables is calculated as the present value of expected future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate inherent in the asset. 
Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(ii) Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity security, loan or receivable is 
reversed, if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as 
available-for-sale is not reversed through Group profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(g) Inventories:

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are 
determined on a first-in-first out (FIFO) basis. Costs, including an appropriate proportion of fixed 
and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories by the method most appropriate to the 
particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first-in, first-out basis. Net 
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h) Financial instruments:

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise. For the purpose of the financial 
statements, financial assets have been determined to include cash and bank balances, trade and 
other receivables, due from related parties and long-term receivables. Financial liabilities include 
trade and other payables, prizes liabilities and long-term liabilities.

(i) Classification of financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the categories discussed below, 
depending on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date. The financial assets of the Group are classified as loans 
and receivables. 

Instruments with fixed or determinable payments and which are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as loans and receivables and are carried at amortised cost, less 
impairment losses.  Other investments held by the Group are classified as available-
for-sale and are stated at fair value. Available-for-sale investments include certain 
debt and equity securities.

(ii) Measurement

Financial instruments are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, all available-for-sale investments are measured at 
fair value, except that any instrument that does not have a quoted market price in an 
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably determined, is stated at cost,
including transaction costs, less impairment losses.

All non-trading financial liabilities and loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost, less impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate 
method. Premiums and discounts, including initial transaction costs, are included in the 
carrying amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate 
of the instrument.

Investment in subsidiaries, for the Company, is stated at cost, less impairment losses.

(iii) Impairment of financial assets

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or 
more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h) Financial instruments (cont’d):

(iii) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated 
as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original interest rate. Receivables with a short duration are not 
discounted. 

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. 
The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in Groups that share similar credit 
risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(iv) De-recognition

The Group de-recognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the assets expire; or it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards to the ownership of the financial asset are transferred, 
or in which the company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risk and rewards 
of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in transferred 
financial assets that is created or retained by the company is recognised as a separate asset 
or liability.  

The Group de-recognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents:

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and 
in hand, net of bank overdraft and other highly liquid bank deposits held with financial 
institutions, with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition and are 
held to meet liquidity requirements.

(j) Revenue:

(i) Lottery

Ticket sales - lottery games are sold to the public by contracted retail agents. Revenue is 
recognised when tickets are sold to players.
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(j) Revenue (cont’d):

(i) Lottery (cont’d)

Unclaimed prizes – in keeping with clause number 28 of the lottery licence held by Prime 
Sports (Jamaica) Limited, winning tickets must be redeemed within 90 days of the relevant 
draw unless otherwise notified. Any valid winning ticket presented after expiration of this 
period may be paid provided payment is made within 180 days of the draw, after which 
prizes may be paid only with written approval of BGLC. Fifty percent (50%) of unclaimed 
prizes (net of taxes where applicable) is paid over to the CHASE Fund within 21 days and 
the remainder retained by the subsidiary. Effective March 1, 2013, the remainder, being 
fifty percent (50%) of unclaimed prizes, is paid to the BGLC. 

(ii) Gaming

Revenue is recorded based on the cash value of tokens and tickets cleared from the drop 
box, roulette credits sold to customers, the cash bills cleared from the bill receptor, the 
payouts made to customers and the net movement in the machines’ token stock levels.

(iii) Sports betting

Revenue represents the gross sales of the bets taken on international sporting events at all 
branches, net of refunds. Revenue is recognised when wagers are placed by players 
evidenced by ticket sales. 

(iv) Pin codes 

Pin codes are sold to the public by the contracted retail agents. Revenue is recognised when 
pin codes are sold by the agents. 

(v) Hospitality and related services

Hospitality and related services include food and beverage sales and are recognised when 
the goods/services are provided.

(vi) Management fees 

The Company provides management services to its subsidiaries. Fees are recognised when 
the services are provided.

(vii) Interest income

Interest income is accrued by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the expected rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(j) Revenue (cont’d):

(viii) Dividend income 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(k) Employee benefit costs:

(i) The Company is the sponsoring employer of a group defined contribution pension scheme
under the control of trustees and administered by a licensed organisation. Contributions are 
recognised as an expense by the employer as incurred.

(ii) Employee leave entitlements are recognized when they accrue to employees.  A provision 
is made for the estimated liability for vacation leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the reporting date.

(l) Finance costs:

Finance costs are recognised using the effective interest method. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(m) Related parties:

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”).

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that 
person:
(a) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(b) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(c) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent 
of the reporting entity.

(ii) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

(a) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same Group (which means 
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a Group of which the other entity is a member).

(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 

third entity.
(e) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 

third entity.
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(m) Related parties (cont’d):

(ii) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies (cont’d):

(f) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan established for the benefit of 
employees of either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. 

(g) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled, by a person identified in (i).
(h) A person identified in (i) (a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 

of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting 
entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

The company has a related party relationship with its directors, companies with common 
directors, jointly controlled entity. “Key management personnel” represents directors of the 
company and certain members of the Company’s executive management.

(n) Foreign currencies:

In preparing the financial statements of the Company, transactions in currencies other than the 
Company’s functional currency, the Jamaica dollar, are recognised at the rates of exchange 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they arise.

(o) Leases:

Leases are classified as finance lease whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(p) Determination of profit or loss:

Profit is determined as the difference between the revenues from the goods and services 
rendered and the cost and the charges incurred during the year.  Profits on transactions are 
taken in the year in which they are realised.  A transaction is realised at the moment of 
delivery of goods and services. Losses are recognised in the year in which they are realised 
or determinable.
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(q) Share capital:

(i) Classification:

Ordinary stock units are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer 
cash or other assets.

(ii) Share issue costs:

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new stock units or to the 
acquisition of a business are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.

(iii) Dividends:

Dividends are recorded in the financial statements in the period in which they are 
declared.



Supreme Ventures Annual Report 2013        77

SU
PR

EM
E 

V
EN

TU
RE

S 
LI

M
IT

ED
 

N
ot

es
 t

o 
th

e 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l S

ta
te

m
en

ts
Y

EA
R

 E
N

D
ED

 D
EC

EM
B

ER
 3

1,
 2

01
3

SU
PR

EM
E 

V
EN

TU
R

ES
 L

IM
IT

ED

N
ot

es
 to

 th
e 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l S
ta

te
m

en
ts

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

3

4.
Pr

op
er

ty
 a

nd
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t
Th

e 
G

ro
up

V
id

eo
lo

tte
ry

Fu
rn

itu
re

C
ap

ita
l

Fr
ee

ho
ld

Fr
ee

ho
ld

Le
as

eh
ol

d
Le

as
eh

ol
d

M
ac

hi
ne

ry
&

te
rm

in
al

fix
tu

re
s&

C
om

pu
te

r
M

ot
or

A
rts

 &
Si

gn
s &

w
or

k 
in

la
nd

bu
ild

in
gs

bu
ild

in
g

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

eq
ui

pm
en

t
eq

ui
pm

en
t

eq
ui

pm
en

t
eq

ui
pm

en
t

ve
hi

cl
es

pa
in

tin
gs

po
st

er
s

pr
og

re
ss

To
ta

l
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

C
os

t
D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

01
1

A
s p

re
vi

ou
sl

y 
re

po
rte

d
23

7,
12

8
93

7,
10

0
12

0,
34

8
35

9,
97

0
24

5,
18

8
51

2,
24

9
47

5,
90

9
27

,6
41

12
0,

07
3

2,
36

3
25

,0
24

3,
09

7
3,

06
6,

09
0

Pr
io

r y
ea

r a
dj

us
tm

en
t*

(
56

,0
00

)
(

92
,1

00
)

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
-  

   
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
(

14
8,

10
0)

A
s r

es
ta

te
d

18
1,

12
8

84
5,

00
0

12
0,

34
8

35
9,

97
0

24
5,

18
8

51
2,

24
9

47
5,

90
9

27
,6

41
12

0,
07

3
2,

36
3

25
,0

24
3,

09
7

2,
91

7,
99

0

A
dd

iti
on

s 
   

   
-  

   
 

39
,7

26
   

   
-  

   
 

2,
98

1
54

5
3,

91
0

9,
87

6
4,

95
4

33
,4

64
   

  -
   

  
1,

05
9

21
2,

49
6

30
9,

01
1

Tr
an

sf
er

 to
 p

ro
fit

 o
r l

os
s

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

  -
   

  
-  

   
 

(  
   

  1
97

)
(  

   
   

  1
97

)
Tr

an
sf

er
s

(  
27

,4
28

)
44

,5
25

   
   

-  
   

 
(  

   
9,

33
8)

5,
83

3
62

1
70

5
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

  -
   

  
-  

   
 

(  
14

,9
18

)
   

   
  -

   
   

 
D

is
po

sa
ls/

w
rit

e-
of

fs
   

   
-  

   
 

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
(

1,
80

0)
   

   
-  

   
 

(
71

,0
01

)
(

   
 6

96
)

(
29

4)
(

16
,5

06
)

-
   

(
38

1)
   

   
-  

   
  

(
90

,6
78

)

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

2,
 a

s r
es

ta
te

d
15

3,
70

0
92

9,
25

1
12

0,
34

8
35

1,
81

3
25

1,
56

6
44

5,
77

9
48

5,
79

4
32

,3
01

13
7,

03
1

2,
36

3
25

,7
02

20
0,

47
8

3,
13

6,
12

6
A

dd
iti

on
s 

   
   

-  
   

 
34

7
   

   
-  

   
 

13
,9

13
11

,6
71

8,
28

0
11

,0
36

2,
68

4
52

,2
76

   
  -

   
  

-  
   

 
12

1,
92

7
22

2,
13

4
Tr

an
sf

er
s

   
   

-  
   

 
5,

35
6

   
   

-  
   

 
11

1,
10

6
16

,6
38

13
9,

61
2

44
,3

74
2,

33
1

   
   

-  
   

 
   

  -
   

  
1,

00
7

(3
20

,4
24

)
   

   
-  

   
 

D
is

po
sa

ls/
w

rit
e-

of
fs

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
(

34
,5

37
)

(
1,

02
1)

-  
   

 
(

37
,6

89
)

-  
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

(
73

,2
47

)

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

3
15

3,
70

0
93

4,
95

4
12

0,
34

8
47

6,
83

2
27

9,
87

5
55

9,
13

4
54

0,
18

3
37

,3
16

15
1,

61
8

2,
36

3
26

,7
09

1,
98

1
3,

28
5,

01
3

A
cc

um
ul

at
ed

 d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

01
1

A
s p

re
vi

ou
sl

y 
re

po
rte

d
   

   
-  

   
 

23
,4

28
12

,5
36

16
3,

72
1

21
5,

52
5

31
3,

11
8

26
7,

92
4

24
,4

43
55

,2
36

   
  -

   
  

24
,9

57
   

   
-  

   
 

1,
10

0,
88

8
Pr

io
r y

ea
r a

dj
us

tm
en

t*
   

   
-  

   
 

58
,6

27
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

-  
   

   
  -

   
  

   
   

-  
   

 
   

  5
8,

62
7

A
s r

es
ta

te
d

   
 - 

   
  

82
,0

55
12

,5
36

16
3,

72
1

21
5,

52
5

31
3,

11
8

26
7,

92
4

24
,4

43
55

,2
36

   
  -

   
  

24
,9

57
   

   
-  

   
 

1,
15

9,
51

5
D

ep
re

ci
at

io
n

   
   

-  
   

 
19

,8
74

3,
00

9
38

,3
77

26
,2

77
50

,7
46

21
,6

91
4,

78
6

22
,3

84
   

  -
   

  
17

8
   

   
-  

   
 

18
7,

32
2

Tr
an

sf
er

s
   

   
-  

   
 

6,
97

6
   

   
-  

   
 

(  
  6

,9
76

)
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
  -

   
  

   
  -

   
  

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
  -

   
   

 
D

is
po

sa
ls/

w
rit

e-
of

fs
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
(

1,
62

6)
   

   
-

   
 

(
41

,9
62

)
(

   
 4

86
)

(
29

4)
(

13
,3

70
)

-  
   

(
30

4)
   

   
-  

   
 

(
58

,0
42

)

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

2,
 a

s r
es

ta
te

d
   

   
-  

   
 

10
8,

90
5

15
,5

45
19

3,
49

6
24

1,
80

2
32

1,
90

2
28

9,
12

9
28

,9
35

64
,2

50
   

  -
   

  
24

,8
31

   
   

-  
   

 
1,

28
8,

79
5

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
   

   
-  

   
 

19
,5

12
3,

00
9

45
,6

09
25

,7
16

60
,1

87
18

,5
80

4,
72

0
23

,3
20

   
 - 

   
 

27
5

   
   

-  
   

 
20

0,
92

8
Tr

an
sf

er
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
(

   
 1

18
)

   
   

-  
   

 
11

8
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
D

is
po

sa
ls/

w
rit

e-
of

fs
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

(
19

,6
54

)
(  

   
  5

92
)

-  
   

 
(

21
,5

43
)

-  
   

   
  -

   
  

   
   

-  
   

 
(

41
,7

89
)

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

3
   

   
-  

   
 

12
8,

41
7

18
,5

54
23

9,
10

5
26

7,
40

0
36

2,
43

5
30

7,
23

5
33

,6
55

66
,0

27
-  

   
25

,1
06

   
   

-  
   

 
1,

44
7,

93
4

N
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
es

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

3
15

3,
70

0
80

6,
53

7
10

1,
79

4
23

7,
72

7
12

,4
75

19
6,

69
9

23
2,

94
8

3,
66

1
85

,5
91

2,
36

3
1,

60
3

1,
98

1
1,

83
7,

07
9

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

2,
 a

s r
es

ta
te

d*
15

3,
70

0
82

0,
34

6
10

4,
80

3
15

8,
31

7
9,

76
4

12
3,

87
7

19
6,

66
5

3,
36

6
72

,7
81

2,
36

3
   

  8
71

20
0,

47
8

1,
84

7,
33

1

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

1,
 a

s r
es

ta
te

d*
18

1,
12

8
76

2,
94

5
10

7,
81

2
19

6,
24

9
29

,6
63

19
9,

13
1

20
7,

98
5

3,
19

8
64

,8
37

2,
36

3
   

   
 6

7
3,

09
7

1,
75

8,
47

5

*S
ee

 n
ot

e 
39



78        Supreme Ventures Annual Report 2013

SU
PR

EM
E 

V
EN

TU
RE

S 
LI

M
IT

ED
 

N
ot

es
 t

o 
th

e 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l S

ta
te

m
en

ts
Y

EA
R

 E
N

D
ED

 D
EC

EM
B

ER
 3

1,
 2

01
3

SU
PR

EM
E 

V
EN

TU
R

ES
 L

IM
IT

ED

N
ot

es
 to

 th
e 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l S
ta

te
m

en
ts

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

3

4.
Pr

op
er

ty
 a

nd
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t (
co

nt
’d

)

Th
e 

C
om

pa
ny

V
id

eo
lo

tte
ry

Fu
rn

itu
re

 
R

oa
dw

ay
Si

gn
s

Fr
ee

ho
ld

Fr
ee

ho
ld

Le
as

eh
ol

d
te

rm
in

al
M

ac
hi

ne
ry

&
fix

tu
re

s&
C

om
pu

te
r

M
ot

or
an

d
A

rt 
an

d
an

d
la

nd
bu

ild
in

gs
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
eq

ui
pm

en
t

eq
ui

pm
en

t
eq

ui
pm

en
t

eq
ui

pm
en

t
ve

hi
cl

es
fe

nc
in

g
pa

in
tin

gs
po

st
er

s
To

ta
l

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

C
os

t
D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

01
1

A
s p

re
vi

ou
sl

y 
re

po
rte

d
15

,0
00

67
,1

00
25

,8
52

32
8,

98
0

19
3,

87
1

50
,6

22
17

,1
69

17
,9

91
1,

13
0

2,
36

3
24

,6
42

74
4,

72
0

Pr
io

r y
ea

r a
dj

us
tm

en
t*

(
2,

00
0 )

(5
2,

10
0)

   
  -

   
  

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
  -

   
  

   
  -

   
  

   
  -

   
 

-  
  

-  
  

   
  -

   
  

(
54

,1
00

)

A
s r

es
ta

te
d

13
,0

00
15

,0
00

25
,8

52
32

8,
98

0
19

3,
87

1
50

,6
22

17
,1

69
17

,9
91

1,
13

0
2,

36
3

24
,6

42
69

0,
62

0
A

dd
iti

on
s 

   
   

-  
   

19
,0

58
   

   
-  

   
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
1,

58
8

1,
84

4
   

   
-  

   
   

   
-  

  
   

   
-  

  
   

   
-  

   
22

,4
90

D
is

po
sa

ls/
w

rit
e-

of
fs

   
  -

   
  

   
  -

   
  

   
  -

   
  

(
39

,5
73

)
   

   
-  

   
 

   
  -

   
  

   
  -

   
  

   
  -

   
  

-  
  

-  
  

   
  -

   
  

(
39

,5
73

)

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

2,
 a

s r
es

ta
te

d
13

,0
00

34
,0

58
25

,8
52

28
9,

40
7

19
3,

87
1

52
,2

10
19

,0
13

17
,9

91
1,

13
0

2,
36

3
24

,6
42

67
3,

53
7

A
dd

iti
on

s 
   

   
-  

   
   

   
-  

   
   

  -
   

  
   

   
-  

   
 

   
   

-  
   

 
2,

07
1

   
   

  1
92

   
   

-  
   

   
   

-  
  

   
   

-  
  

   
   

-  
   

2,
26

3
D

is
po

sa
ls/

w
rit

e-
of

fs
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
(

33
,8

50
)

   
   

-  
   

 
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
-  

  
-  

  
   

  -
   

  
(

33
,8

50
)

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

3
13

,0
00

34
,0

58
25

,8
52

25
5,

55
7

19
3,

87
1

54
,2

81
19

,2
05

17
,9

91
1,

13
0

2,
36

3
24

,6
42

64
1,

95
0

A
cc

um
ul

at
ed

 d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

01
1

A
s p

re
vi

ou
sl

y 
re

po
rte

d
   

   
-  

   
1,

67
7

22
,4

15
18

7,
92

2
19

3,
60

6
42

,3
06

16
,5

87
16

,9
44

   
   

35
6

   
   

-  
  

24
,6

42
50

6,
45

5
Pr

io
r y

ea
r a

dj
us

tm
en

t*
   

  -
   

  
   

16
0

   
  -

   
  

   
   

-  
   

 
   

   
-  

   
 

   
  -

   
  

   
  -

   
  

   
  -

   
  

-  
  

-  
  

   
  -

   
  

16
0

A
s r

es
ta

te
d

   
   

-  
   

1,
83

7
22

,4
15

18
7,

92
2

19
3,

60
6

42
,3

06
16

,5
87

16
,9

44
   

   
35

6
   

   
-  

  
24

,6
42

50
6,

61
5

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
   

   
-  

   
64

9
69

0
25

,2
10

26
5

2,
24

8
39

9
38

8
29

   
   

-  
  

   
   

-  
   

29
,8

78
El

im
in

at
ed

 o
n 

di
sp

os
al

s/
w

rit
e-

of
fs

 
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
(

17
,7

22
)

   
   

-  
   

 
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
-  

  
-  

  
   

  -
   

  
(

17
,7

22
)

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

2,
 a

s r
es

ta
te

d
   

   
-  

   
2,

48
6

23
,1

05
19

5,
41

0
19

3,
87

1
44

,5
54

16
,9

86
17

,3
32

   
   

  3
85

   
   

-  
  

24
,6

42
51

8,
77

1

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
   

   
-  

   
72

3
   

  6
85

19
,1

38
   

   
-  

   
 

1,
99

3
88

5
20

3
28

   
   

-  
  

   
   

-  
   

23
,6

55
El

im
in

at
ed

 o
n 

di
sp

os
al

s/
w

rit
e-

of
fs

 
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
(

23
,2

72
)

   
   

-  
   

 
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
   

  -
   

  
-  

  
-  

  
   

  -
   

  
(

23
,2

72
)

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

3
   

  -
   

  
3,

20
9

23
,7

90
19

1,
27

6
19

3,
87

1
46

,5
47

17
,8

71
17

,5
35

41
3

-  
  

24
,6

42
51

9,
15

4

N
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
es

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

3
13

,0
00

30
,8

49
2,

06
2

64
,2

81
   

   
-  

   
 

7,
73

4
1,

33
4

   
  4

56
71

7
2,

36
3

   
  -

   
  

12
2,

79
6

D
ec

em
be

r3
1,

 2
01

2,
 a

s r
es

ta
te

d*
13

,0
00

31
,5

72
2,

74
7

93
,9

97
   

   
-  

   
 

7,
65

6
2,

02
7

   
  6

59
74

5
2,

36
3

   
  -

   
  

15
4,

76
6

D
ec

em
be

r3
1,

 2
01

1,
 a

s r
es

ta
te

d*
13

,0
00

13
,1

63
3,

43
7

14
1,

05
8

   
   

 2
65

8,
31

6
   

  5
82

1,
04

7
77

4
2,

36
3

   
  -

   
  

18
4,

00
5

*S
ee

 n
ot

e 
39



Supreme Ventures Annual Report 2013        79

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

5. Goodwill

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Acquired goodwill 571,681 571,681 189,953 189,953

The goodwill impairment test is carried out by comparing the recoverable amount of the 
Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated, to the carrying 
amount of those CGUs plus goodwill. For the purposes of the impairment assessment, goodwill 
has been allocated to the Group’s cash generating units as follows:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Gaming operations 381,728 381,728 - -
Lottery operations 189,953 189,953 189,953 189,953

571,681 571,681 189,953 189,953

Management has determined that goodwill at December 31, 2013 is not impaired based on 
assessments of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs. The assessments were carried out as
described below.

Gaming operations:

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on its value in use calculations. The 
recoverable amount of $469.454 million was determined to be higher than its carrying amount 
and no impairment loss was recognised. 

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value in use were as follows:
The Group

2013 2012

Discount rate 18.1% 10.5%
Terminal value growth rate 3% 3.5%
Budgeted EBITDA growth rate 5% 3.5%

Seven years of cash flows were included in the discounted cash flow model. Budgeted 
EBITDA was based on expectations of future outcomes based on strategic change made during 
the year, adjusted for the anticipated revenue growth. Revenue growth was projected taking 
into account net win growth for the next seven years
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5. Goodwill (cont’d)

Lottery operations:

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on its value in use calculations. The 
recoverable amount of $2.882 billion was determined to be higher than its carrying amount and 
no impairment loss was recognised. Revenue growth was projected for the next seven years.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value in use were as follows:

The Group
2013 2012

Discount rate 18.1% 10.5%
Terminal value growth rate 3% 3.5%
Budgeted EBITDA growth rate 5% 3.5%

6. Other intangible assets
The Group The Company

Software 
Computer usage Computer
software Licences rights Total software

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Cost
December 31, 2011 63,120 49,044 80,558 192,722 9,627
Additions 1,079 -     -     1,079 81

December 31, 2012 64,199 49,044 80,558 193,801 9,708
Additions 4,125 -    -     4,125 -    

December 31, 2013 68,324 49,044 80,558 197,926 9,708

Amortisation
December 31, 2011 42,749 10,462 8,056 61,267 7,707
Amortisation 11,708 9,809 8,056 29,573 1,112

December 31, 2012 54,457 20,271 16,112 90,840 8,819
Amortisation 10,089 9,808 8,056 27,953 568

December 31, 2013 64,546 30,079 24,168 118,793 9,387

Net book values
December 31, 2013 3,778 18,965 56,390 79,133 321

December 31, 2012 9,742 28,773 64,446 102,961 889

December 31, 2011 20,371 38,582 72,502 131,455 1,920

(a) Licences

Licences represent those received originally by Chillout Ventures Limited and Big ‘A’ 
Track 2003 Limited for gaming and sports betting respectively and are now vested in 
Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited consequent on the amalgamation described in note 1. 
Licences are amortised over five years from the original grant date.
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6. Other intangible assets (cont’d)

(b) Software usage rights

This comprises the one-time software user rights fee paid to Intralot Jamaica Limited 
related to sports betting. The amount is amortised over the life of the contract, which is 
10 years.

(c) The amortisation of computer software licences and software usage rights is included in 
operating expenses (see note 25).

7. Investment in subsidiaries
The Company

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Supreme Ventures Lotteries Limited - 1,000
Supreme Ventures Financial Services Limited - 5,760
Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited 5,760 418,311
Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited 1,938,652 1,523,919

1,944,412 1,948,990

Pursuant to the group amalgamation disclosed in note 1, carrying values of individual 
subsidiaries have been adjusted appropriately. Consequent on the re-issue of a lottery licence 
to its principal operating subsidiary, the Company also issued a guarantee in the amount of 
$500 million to the BGLC.

8. Long-term receivables

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

SGL BVI Limited (2012: US$3,903,520)
[note (a)] 392,333 359,895 392,333 -

Radio Jamaica Limited [note (b)] 73,613 - - -
Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited

Debentures [note (c)] - - 555,664 556,664
Loan to subsidiary - [note (d)] - - 285,615 -

- - [note (e)] - - - 421,649

465,946 359,895 1,233,612 978,313

Less: Current portion ( 17,190) ( 26,230) ( 106,909) (135,230)

448,756 333,665 1,126,703 843,083
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8. Long-term receivables (cont’d)

(a) SGL BVI Limited:

The balance represents unsecured advances to SGL BVI Limited (SGL BVI), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. SGL BVI is a subsidiary of Supreme Gaming 
Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the State of Florida, USA. The 
advances were made pursuant to the development of gaming activities in the Caribbean 
and the Latin American region, including Jamaica.

As of September 1, 2013, the balance was converted from a US dollar denominated 
amount and is now denominated in Jamaican dollars.  Management is of the opinion that 
the balance outstanding at December 31, 2013 is realisable under an Electronic Gaming 
Machine Framework Agreement dated March 31, 2011 between Intralot Caribbean 
Ventures Limited (Intralot) and the Company and a Project Service Agreement dated 
March 11, 2011 between SGL BVI and Intralot.  Interest accrues on the outstanding 
balance at the rate of 4% per annum.  Interest accrued as at December 31, 2013 amounts 
to $4,592,507 (2012: $2,687,447).

(b) Radio Jamaica Limited:

This represents the balance on a credit facility provided by Prime Sports (Jamaica) 
Limited to Radio Jamaica Limited to establish, equip and commission a television 
broadcasting studio to air live television broadcasts of lottery drawings. The facility is 
repayable by forty-eight (48) consecutive monthly principal and interest payments of 
$1,761,377 which commenced December 31, 2013. The facility bears interest at 6% per 
annum on a reducing balance basis. 

(c) Under a scheme of reorganisation and amalgamation in April 2008, the company 
acquired two debentures issued by Jamaica Lottery Company Limited (JLC) to Prime 
Sports (Jamaica) Limited (PSJL) for JLC's beneficial interest in Coral Cliff Entertainment 
Limited and Village Square Entertainment Limited now amalgamated to PSJL.  The 
debentures are for a term of twenty-one (21) years, payable by 20 interim annual 
instalments of J$250,000 each on March 31 of each year (commencing on March 31, 
2009), and a final instalment of the remaining unpaid balance of the principal sum on 
March 31, 2029. Interest is charged on the debentures at a rate of 8% (2012: 8%) per 
annum, reviewed and paid monthly.

(d) These represent portions of balances due from subsidiary, Prime Sports (Jamaica) 
Limited, which were restructured into a long-term loan arrangement during the year.

The loan is unsecured and is repayable in monthly instalments of $11,271,209, at interest 
rate 12% per annum. The loan is repayable by 2016.

(e) These loans, which bore interest at 8% per annum, were fully settled during the year,
consequent on the amalgamation (see note 1).
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9. Available-for-sale investments
The Group and The Company

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Unquoted investment 1,883 1,883
Quoted investment

At beginning of year 12,876 -
Addition reclassified from prepayment - 15,000
Impairment adjustment ( 9,048) ( 2,124)

At end of year 3,828 12,876

5,711 14,759

10. Investment in joint venture

The Group’s significant interest in a joint venture comprises a 50% equity shareholding of 
Jonepar Development Limited, a jointly controlled entity. The entity owns a parcel of land in 
Montego Bay which is used as a parking facility for the customers of the Coral Cliff gaming 
lounge and the other venturer. The net operating results of the joint venture since the 
acquisition date are not significant and as a result the investment is carried at cost.

11. Deferred taxation

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets 251,956 409,345 - -
Deferred tax liabilities ( 13,309) ( 37,876) (13,309) (13,454)

238,647 371,469 (13,309) (13,454)

Deferred taxation is attributable to the following:

(a) Group:
Assets Liabilities Net

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property and equipment 6,802 41,042 (11,188) (36,192) ( 4,386) 4,850
Other intangible assets (14,098) (16,112) -     - (14,098) ( 16,112)
Trade and other receivables (     684) (       30) ( 2,584) (  2,472) (  3,268) ( 2,502)
Trade and other payables (25,541) (25,231) 463 788 (25,078) ( 24,443)
Tax losses 285,014 408,356 -     - 285,014 408,356
Other        463 1,320 -     -            463 1,320

Net assets/(liabilities) 251,956 409,345 (13,309) (37,876) 238,647 371,469
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11. Deferred taxation (cont’d)

(a) Group (cont’d):

(i) Net deferred tax is recognised in the Group statement of financial position, as 
follows:

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax liability in company ( 13,309) ( 13,454)
Deferred tax liability in subsidiaries - ( 24,422)

(  13,309) (  37,876)

Deferred tax asset in certain subsidiaries  251,956 409,345

Net deferred tax asset 238,647 371,469

(ii) Movement in net temporary differences during the year are as follows:

Balance at Recognised Balance at
2013

January 1 in profit/loss December 31
$’000 $’000 $’000

[note 30(a)]

Property and equipment 4,850 (    9,236) ( 4,386)
Other intangible assets ( 16,112) 2,014 ( 14,098)
Trade and other receivables ( 2,502) (       766) ( 3,268)
Trade and other payables ( 24,443) (       635) (  25,078)
Tax losses 408,356 (123,343) 285,013
Other 1,320 ( 857) 463

371,469 (132,823) 238,646

Balance at Recognised Balance at
2012

January 1 in profit/loss December 31
$’000 $’000 $’000

[note 30(a)]

Property, plant and equipment ( 34,858) 39,708 4,850
Other intangible assets ( 24,167) 8,055 ( 16,112)
Trade and other receivables ( 469) ( 2,033) ( 2,502)
Trade and other payables ( 24,318) ( 125) ( 24,443)     
Tax losses 194,311 214,045 408,356     
Other 841 479 1,320

111,340 260,129 371,469
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11. Deferred taxation (cont’d)

(b) Company:
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Property and equipment (11,188) (12,732)
Trade and other receivables (  2,584) (  1,510)
Other 463 788

Net liabilities (13,309) (13,454)

Movement in net temporary differences during the year:

Balance at Recognised Balance at
2013

January 1, 2013 in profit/loss December 31, 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000

[note 30(a)]

Property and equipment (12,732) 1,544 (11,188)
Trade and other receivables (  1,510) (1,074) (  2,584)
Other 788 ( 325) 463

(13,454) 145 (13,309)

Balance at Recognised Balance at
2012

January 1, 2012 in profit/loss December 31, 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000

[note 30(a)]

Property and equipment (21,008) 8,276 (12,732)
Trade and other receivables (       21) (1,489) (   1,510)
Other 841 ( 53) 788

(20,188) 6,734 (13,454)

12. Other assets
The Group

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

At the beginning of the year 5,908 -
Acquired during the year 27,709 6,564
Less: Amortisation ( 6,393) ( 656)

At end of year 27,224 5,908

This represents clearance costs for leased gaming machines which is being amortised over the 
useful life of the gaming machines, estimated at five years.
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13. Inventories
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Pin codes 74,676 40,160 74,676 40,160
Food and beverage 1,781 8,258 - -

76,457 48,418 74,676 40,160

The cost of inventory recognised as an expense during the year for the Group was $3.369 
billion (2012: $2.327 billion) and $3.34 billion (2012: $2.26 billion) for the Company.

14. Due from subsidiaries
The Company

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited 188,845 517,137
Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited - (  38,575)
Supreme Ventures Lotteries Limited - (173,439)

188,845 305,123
Current portion of long-term receivable - Prime Sports 

(Jamaica) Limited [see note 8(d)] 106,405 135,230

295,250 440,353

15. Trade and other receivables
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 451,221 471,517 - -
Less: Allowances for doubtful debts (210,449) (152,417) - -

240,772 319,100 - -

Other receivables and prepayments
[see note (f)] 227,900 317,482 120,044 142,956

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts - ( 26,000) - ( 26,000)

468,672 610,582 120,044 116,956

(a) Included in trade receivables of the Group are amounts of $420 million (2012: $423
million) representing amounts receivable from the agents that support the lottery sales. 
The average credit period for the receivables is 7 days. Balances outstanding for over 7 
days are considered past due. Where agent balances are outstanding for over 90 days they 
are classified as delinquent and are provided for in full after 365 days as historical 
experience is such that receivables that are past due beyond this period are generally not 
recoverable.

The average credit period for the remaining balance in trade receivables is 30 days.
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15. Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

(b) Trade receivables above include amounts (see aged analysis below) that are past due as at 
the end of the reporting period but against which the Group has not recognised an 
allowance for doubtful receivables because there has not been a significant change in 
credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold 
any collateral or credit enhancement over these balances nor does it have a legal right of 
off-set against any amounts owed by the Group’s counterparties.

Management believes that past due unimpaired receivables are of good quality.

(c) Ageing of past due but not impaired

The Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Up to 30 days 4,622 6,801
31 - 60 days 2,503 12,553
61 - 90 days 3,371 25,043
Over 120 days 35,151 15,621

45,647 60,018

(d) Movement in allowance for impairment of trade receivables:

The Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 152,417 73,471
Impairment losses recognised 58,032 78,946

Balance at end of year 210,449 152,417

(e) Movement in allowance for impairment of other receivables:

The Group The Company
2013 2013 2013 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 26,000 - 26,000 -
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) (26,000) 26,000 (26,000) 26,000

Balance at end of year - 26,000 - 26,000

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group considers any change in the 
credit quality of the receivable from the date the credit was granted up to the reporting 
date.

(f) Other receivables for the Group include amounts of $17.19 million (2012: $26.23 million
relating to the current portion of long-term receivables disclosed in notes 8(a) and 8(b).
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16. Cash and cash equivalents

(a) The Group:

Bank balances of the Group include interest-bearing accounts of $873 million (2012:
$1,315 million), including US$ foreign currency deposits of US$1.6 million (2012:
US$2.1 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group also include an amount of $10 million (2012: $10 
million) held in reserve to fund the Lucky 5 game in accordance with the lottery licence
held by Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited.

(b) The Company:

Bank balances of the Company include interest-bearing accounts of $187.2 million 
(2012: $91.4 million), including foreign currency deposits of US$0.065 million (2012: 
US$0.048 million). 

(c) Hypothecated deposits:
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Hypothecated term
deposits #1 [see (i) below] 25,000 25,000 - -

Hypothecated term
deposits #2 [see (ii) below] 5,800 5,800 5,800 5,800

30,800 30,800 5,800 5,800

(i) The $25 million term deposit is hypothecated as support for a performance bond 
guarantee to the Betting Gaming and Lotteries Commission (BGLC) for certain 
financial obligations by a subsidiary under the BGLC Act and regulations. The 
bond, which is for four years, expires in April 2015.

(ii) The hypothecated term deposits #2 represents part of security for long-term bank 
arrangements disclosed in note 20.

17. Share capital

Authorised:
3,000,000,000 ordinary stock units at no par value

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Stated capital:
2,637,254,926 ordinary stock units, issued and fully paid 1,967,183 1,967,183

18. Capital reserve

This includes gains arising on the scheme of reorganisation and amalgamation of subsidiaries 
within the Group in 2008. The reserve is stated net of costs associated with the reorganisation 
and amalgamation and capital distributions.
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19. Retained earnings

This is reflected in the financial statements of:
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

The company 1,252,638 1,209,691
The subsidiaries 360,612 553,932

1,613,250 1,763,623

20. Long-term liabilities
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica 
Limited (BNS) 218,408 359,263 218,408 359,263

These loans are repayable as follows:
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within one year 141,408 142,708 141,408 142,708
Within two to five years 77,000 216,555 77,000 216,555

218,408 359,263 218,408 359,263

Included in the statement of financial position as:

Current liabilities 141,408 142,708 141,408 142,708

Long-term liabilities 77,000 216,555 77,000 216,555

The non-revolving Jamaica dollar loans obtained from the Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica 
Limited (BNS) are repayable in quarterly instalments over a period of five years. The interest 
on these loan ranges from 8.95% to 12.5%.

The BNS facility is secured as follows:

(i) Corporate guarantee by Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited supported by a first legal 
mortgage over certain commercial properties;

(ii) Cash flow support guarantee from Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited in favour of Supreme 
Ventures Limited;

(iii) Adequate peril insurance for the full replacement values over the properties [(i) above]
held as collateral with benefits ceded to the bank;

(iv) Corporate guarantee issued by Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited stamped for $468.134 
million and endorsed by the Betting Gaming and Lotteries Commission (BGLC); and

(v) Hypothecated term deposits stamped to cover $5.8 million [note 16 (c) (ii)].
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21. Trade and other payables
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 555,589 241,844 466,061 168,940
Service contractor fees 130,694 261,173 22 9,702
Contributions payable to CHASE Fund 67,312 159,238 - -
Contributions payable to Betting,

Gaming and Lotteries Commission 39,375 16,789 - -
Government taxes payable 19,886 46,052 - -
Other payables and accruals 315,718 243,433 151,661 97,400

1,128,574 968,529 617,744 276,042

22. Prize liabilities
The Group

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Local lottery games [(a) below] 130,817 132,586
Multi-jurisdictional lottery game [(b) below] 187,996 204,479
Sports betting 1,821 577

320,634 337,642

(a) This represents the prize liabilities associated with the local lottery games operated under 
licence by the subsidiary, Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited including an amount accrued 
for the advertised jackpot of $55 million (2012: $60 million).

(b) The Super Lotto game is a multi-jurisdictional game with the following countries being a 
party to the Super Lotto agreement entered into by the Company on July 27, 2009: 
Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, Bermuda, St. Kitts and Nevis, Barbados, St. Maarten, 
United States Virgin Islands, Dominican Republic and Jamaica. Revenue from ticket 
sales in Jamaica is recorded as income of the Group.  Under the rules of the Super Lotto 
game, and as agreed by BGLC, effective September 10, 2012, jackpot contributions are
calculated at US$0.7365 cents for every full bet wager and US$0.4419 cents for every 
partial bet wager. Reserve contributions are US$0.02 cents for every full bet wager and 
US$0.012 cents for every partial bet wager. This is with the intention that over a period 
of time there will be an accumulation of funds towards the settlement of the jackpot.
GTECH Corporation has accepted the obligation to fund the unfunded portion of the 
jackpot liability of Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited.
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23. Revenue
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash Pot 23,015,229 18,964,718 - -
Dollaz! 243,215 181,499 - -
Instant win 59,962 46,052 - -
Lotto 1,115,361 1,016,739 - -
Lucky 5 334,263 298,835 - -
Pick 2 351,607 402,107 - -
Pick 3 1,856,828 1,979,363 - -
Pick 4 (commenced January 2012) 1,935,515 2,669,177 - -
Super Lotto 646,635 519,799 - -
Sports betting 266,224 230,314 - -
Unclaimed prizes 14,528 110,791 - -
Gaming revenue (net wins) 529,439 636,325 - -
Hospitality and related revenue 4,866 77,780 - -
Management fees - - 226,400 226,400
Royalties - - 9,337 25,198
Pin codes 3,697,362 2,516,590 3,697,362 2,516,590
Other 69,231 76,057 12,298 20,980

34,140,265 29,726,146 3,945,397 2,789,168

24. Direct expenses

(a) Analysis of direct expenses for continuing operations is as follows:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Lottery and sports betting prizes 20,724,410 17,601,396 -     -     
Service contractor fees 1,570,761 1,248,220 -     -      
Agents’ commissions 1,466,595 1,292,400 -     -     
Good cause fees 1,128,388 1,198,713 -     -     
Lottery and gaming taxes 1,818,424 1,556,356 -     -     
Contributions and levies by BGLC 511,565 278,249 -     -      
Direct expense - hospitality and

related services 2,958 66,963 -     -       
Pin codes 3,344,624 2,259,971 3,344,624 2,259,971
Commissions - pin codes (cost) 241,142 165,912 241,142 165,912

30,808,867 25,668,180 3,585,766 2,425,883
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24. Direct expenses (cont’d)

(b) Lottery and Sports betting prizes:

(i) Cash Pot – All prizes are fixed. The prize won for correctly matching 
the winning number is $26 for each $1 wagered.

(ii) Lucky 5 – Prizes for this game are based on the predetermined prize 
structure.

(iii) Dollaz! – Prizes for this game are fixed based on each $10 per play 
per spot. The prize paid will depend on how many of the 
winning numbers are correctly matched.

(iv) Lotto, Super Lotto – Prizes are based on the actual winning combination of 
Prime Time and numbers for each draw with the amount allocated to
Daily Bingo prizes being a predetermined percentage of actual sales.

(v) Pick 2, Pick 3 – Prizes are computed based on the actual winning are
and Pick 4 computed based on the actual winning combination

of numbers for each draw.

(vi) Instant – Prizes are accrued as an estimate based on a predetermined 
prize structure for each game.

(vii) Sports betting – All prizes are fixed. The prize won is based on the amount 
wagered multiplied by the odds of the selected event(s) 
printed on the ticket.

(c) Service contractor fees:

(i) GTECH Corporation:

GTECH Corporation (GTECH) has been contracted for the provision of technical 
and marketing services for lottery activities. GTECH, whose primary business is 
providing online lottery systems, terminals, networks and services to the lottery 
industry, provide these services to operate the lotteries. GTECH receives a service 
fee calculated using an agreed fee structure based on weekly gross sales.

(ii) Intralot:

Intralot S.A. (Intralot), through various affiliates and subsidiaries, provides three 
main services to the Group namely: technical services for sports betting activities,
lease of gaming machines and central monitoring systems, the latter two relating to
the Video Lottery Terminals (VLT) business. Intralot receives a fee based on a 
daily rate for the use of the central monitoring systems and agreed percentages of
net revenues for its other services.
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24. Direct expenses (cont’d)

(c) Service contractor fees (cont’d):

(ii) Intralot (cont’d):

The fees for services during the year under review are as follows:

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Sport betting activities 28,600 11,604
Lease of gaming machines 47,145 14,861
Lease of central monitoring system 23,592 25,848

99,337 52,313

(d) Agents’ commissions:

The agents who sell on-line tickets for the lottery games and sports betting receive a 
commission on ticket sales.

(e) Good cause fees:

Ca Before March 1 After March 1 
2013 Rate applied on 2013 Rate applied on

Cash Pot 15% net ticket sales 3.65% gross ticket sales
Lucky 5 7.5% gross ticket sales 3.65% gross ticket sales
Pick 3 4.17% gross ticket sales 3.65% gross ticket sales
Pick 2 4.17% gross ticket sales 3.65% gross ticket sales
Pick 4 4.17% gross ticket sales 3.65% gross ticket sales
Instant win 7.5% gross ticket sales 3.65% gross ticket sales
Dollaz! 7.5% gross ticket sales 3.65% gross ticket sales
Lotto 7.5% gross ticket sales 3.65% gross ticket sales
Super Lotto 7.5% gross ticket sales 3.65% gross ticket sales
Sports betting 1% net ticket sales 1% net ticket sales
VLTs 1% net win 1% net win

(f) Lottery and gaming taxes:

Before March 1 After March 1
2013 2013 Rate applied on

Cash Pot 17% 20% net ticket sales
Lucky 5 17% 20% net ticket sales
Pick 3 17% 20% net ticket sales
Pick 2 17% 20% net ticket sales
Pick 4 17% 20% net ticket sales
Instant win 17% 20% net ticket sales
Dollaz! 23% 25% net ticket sales
Lotto 23% 25% net ticket sales
Super Lotto 23% 25% net ticket sales
Sports betting 7% 7% net ticket sales
VLTs 6.5% 6.5% net win
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24. Direct expenses (cont’d)

(g) Contributions and levies by Betting, Gaming & Lotteries Commission:

Before March 1, 2013 After March 1, 2013 Rate applied on

All lottery
games 1% 1.8% gross ticket ales

Sports betting 1% 1% net ticket sales
VLTs 2.5% 2.5% net win

(h) Pin codes:

This represents the amounts paid to mobile service providers for the purchase of pin 
codes, adjusted for inventory movements.

(i) Commission - pin codes (cost):

The agents of the company who sell on-line pin codes and phone cards receive a 
commission on sales.

25. Operating expenses

Analysis of operating expenses for continuing operations is as follows:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff costs 626,986 689,788 104,126 173,797
Rental and utilities 285,983 249,450 11,236 11,134
Marketing and business development 243,823 313,729 7,358 418
Professional fees 319,679 215,359 134,762 91,948
Draw expenses 163,601 161,077 - 125
Bad debts 58,032 104,946 - 26,000
Security 92,673 82,906 22,860 11,496
GCT irrecoverable 171,242 157,884 239 305
Licences and other fees 41,739 26,168 88 52
Depreciation and amortisation 235,274 216,895 24,223 30,990
Disposal of property and equipment 16,399 32,636 10,578 21,851
Bank charges 59,147 31,525 1,531 736
Local and foreign travel 71,127 61,185 28,694 18,172
Complimentary tokens, food and drinks 67,610 5,601 - -
Repairs and maintenance 50,572 46,736 388 615
Subscription and donations 50,356 85,444 11,915 259
Equipment and motor vehicle 46,447 43,846 6,019 9,059
Directors’ fee 45,959 29,237 45,959 29,237
Audit services 32,982 38,395 17,893 16,723
Insurance 27,000 23,761 3,039 2,807
Others 61,515 36,884 27,285 9,424

2,768,146 2,653,452 458,193 455,148
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26. Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Foreign exchange gains 33,602 37,136 - 1,335
Foreign exchange losses ( 2,895) ( 1,191) (3,212) -

30,707 35,945 (3,212) 1,335

27. Finance costs

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest on bank overdraft and long-term loans 27,922 39,148 27,922 39,148
Insurance premium financing 564 643 - -

28,486 39,791 27,922 39,148

28. Other gains
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Doubtful debts recovered 26,000 - 26,000 -
GTECH reimbursements 68,800 - - -
Other 4,411 - - -

99,211 - 26,000 -
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29. Profit before taxation

(a) Profit before taxation from continuing operations is stated after taking account of the 
following items:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income
Interest 46,408 53,098 112,136 99,700

Expenses
Directors’ emoluments:

Fees 45,959 29,472 45,959 29,472
Management remuneration 46,471 48,189 46,471 48,189

Audit fees 18,560 17,900 6,710 6,100
Pension contributions 12,786 14,740 453 326
Depreciation of property

and equipment 200,928 187,322 23,655 29,878
Amortisation of other intangible

assets 27,953 29,573 568 1,112
Amortisation of other assets 6,393 656 - -
Finance costs 28,486 39,791 27,922 39,148

(b) Taxes, licences and other fees (excluding corporate income tax) paid to statutory and 
regulatory bodies in arriving at profit before taxation are as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Lottery and gaming taxes 1,818,424 1,556,356
Good cause fees 1,128,388 1,198,713
Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Commission contributions

and levies 511,565 278,249
GCT irrecoverable 234,775 211,071
Licences and other fees 41,739 26,168
Payroll taxes – Employer’s portion 55,059 58,030

3,789,950 3,328,587

30. Taxation

(a) The taxation for the year includes:
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current tax charge:
Income tax on taxable profits 95,700 635,743 7,696 -
Discontinued operations - 1,266 - -
Deferred taxation (note 11) 132,823 (260,129) ( 145) (6,734)

228,523 376,880 7,551 (6,734)
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30. Taxation (cont’d)

(b) The charge is reconciled to the profit as per the statement of comprehensive income as 
follows:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit before taxation 711,092 1,449,901 683,440 788,684
Tax at the domestic income

tax rate of:
28.75% (2012: 33⅓%) 175,663 483,300 196,489 262,895
25% 2,426 - - -

Expenses disallowed for 
tax purposes 23,664 32,967 10,152 9,517

Net deferred tax asset 
de-recognised 20,745 - - -

Non-taxable income ( 8,519) ( 405) (194,063) (273,333)
Under provision for previous year 1,693 - - -
Private motor vehicles 11,782 6,749 - -
Prior period deferred tax 

recognised in the current year ( 5,137) (   255,654) (    5,137) -
Tax losses not recognised - 5,956 - 5,956
Effect of change in tax rate - 105,083 - (    8,452)
Other 6,206 ( 1,116) 110 ( 3,317)

228,523 376,880 7,551 ( 6,734)

(c) Tax losses of subsidiaries amounting to $1.125 billion subject to agreement with the
Commissioner General, Tax Administration Jamaica (2012: $1.633 billion) are available 
for set-off against future taxable profits of the subsidiaries. Unutilised tax losses can be 
carried forward indefinitely.

31. Discontinued operations

(a) Discontinued operations - Financial services

As part of management’s effort to streamline the Group’s operations, a strategic decision 
was taken to sell the MoneyGram operations and to surrender the Cambio licence of its 
subsidiary, Supreme Ventures Financial Services Limited, effective December 9, 2011. 
As a result, these operations have been treated as discontinued operation in these 
financial statements. 
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31. Discontinued operation (cont’d)

(a) Discontinued operations - Financial services (cont’d)

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Operating expenses - ( 1,931)

Loss from operations - (    1,931)
Other gains and losses [see (a) below] - ( 3,132)

Loss before taxation - (    5,063)
Taxation [note 30(a)] - 1,266

Loss for the year from discontinued operations - ( 3,797)

(a) Other gains and losses
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Proceeds from sale of MoneyGram operation - ( 3,132)

The sale price of the MoneyGram operation was amended during 2012 due to a condition 
of the original sale agreement.

(b) Cash flows from discontinued operations
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Net cash flows from operating activities - (    3,797)
Net cash flows from investing activities - -

- ( 3,797)

32. Earnings per stock unit

Earnings per stock unit is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders, by 
the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue during the year.

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Profit from continuing operations 482,569 1,076,886

Profit attributable to shareholders 482,569 1,073,089
Weighted average number of ordinary stock

units in issue (’000) 2,637,255 2,637,255



Supreme Ventures Annual Report 2013        99

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

33. Related party balances and transactions

(a) Trading transactions with related parties:

Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited is provided with technical services by a related entity. 
This is disclosed at note 24(c)(ii).

During the year, Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited entered into a broadcast arrangement 
with Radio Jamaica Limited to establish, equip and commission a television broadcasting 
studio [see also note 8 (b)].  The arrangement was negotiated at arm’s length basis
between the managements of the two entities.  The entities have a common non-executive 
director.

(b) Balances with subsidiaries:

Notes 8 and 14 to the financial statements include required disclosure in respect of 
balances with subsidiaries.

(c) Loans and advances to key management personnel and directors:

The Company has provided its key management personnel and directors with short-term 
loans and advances in accordance with its policy on granting loans or making advances to 
the Company's and its principal subsidiary’s employees. The balances outstanding at the 
end of the year amounted to approximately $84.7 million (2012: $70.9 million). Of this 
amount, $75.3 million (2012: $98.5 million) is due from directors. Interest is charged on 
loans and advances to key management personnel and directors at an annual rate of 6.5% 
(2012: 10%).

(d) Compensation of key management personnel:

The remuneration of members of key management during the year was as follows:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 189,750 165,966 113,456 120,571
Post-employment benefits 2,223 2,279 367 326

191,973 168,245 113,823 120,897

(e) Professional fees paid to directors for services rendered during the year aggregated 
$116.35 million (2012: $73.08 million) for the Group and the Company.

(f) Provisions or write-offs:

No provisions or write-offs have been recognised for amounts advanced to key 
management or related parties.
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34. Segment reporting

Information reported to the Chief Operating Decision Maker for the purposes of resource 
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the types of services provided.

The Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:

(a) Lottery - Lottery games, offered through the agents’ network.
(b) Gaming and hospitality - Video Lottery Terminal (VLT) games offered at 

gaming lounges and food and beverage operations.
(c) Sports betting - Wagers on international sport events offered through 

the agent’s network.
(d) Pin codes - Sale of pin codes through the agents’ network, 

agents’ service fees, agents’ reconnection fees.
(e) Other - All other income.

The Group’s operations are located solely in Jamaica.

2013
Gaming and Sports

Lottery hospitality betting Pin codes Other Eliminations Group
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenue 29,573,143 534,305 266,224 3,697,362 69,231 -    34,140,265
Inter-segment revenue        -           3,829       -           -        248,035 (251,864) -        

Total revenue 29,573,143 538,134 266,224 3,697,362 317,266 (251,864) 34,140,265

Result
Segment result 1,184,990 (553,060) (129,620)      86,644 ( 25,702)     -     563,252
Interest income 46,408
Net foreign exchange gains 30,707
Other gains and losses 99,211
Finance costs (       28,486)
Profit before taxation

continuing operations 711,092
Taxation ( 228,523)

Profit for the year from 
continuing operations      482,569

Other information
Capital expenditure     62,140 114,649 49,470        -             -             -            226,259

Depreciation, and amortisation 40,284 194,904 16,604        -          -           -            251,792

Segment assets 1,584,269 2,110,224 171,781 74,676 14,521 1,368,373 5,323,844

Segment liabilities 707,016 161,360 24,447 448,425 13,520 326,157 1,680,925
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34. Segment reporting (cont’d)

2012
Gaming and Sports

Lottery hospitality betting Pin codes Other Eliminations Group
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenue 26,189,080 714,105 230,314 2,516,590 76,057         -       29,726,146
Inter-segment revenue     -            31,087       -              -       251,598 ( 282,685)    -      

Total revenue 26,189,080 745,192 230,314 2,516,590 327,655 ( 282,685) 29,726,146

Result
Segment result 1,546,019 (   251,509) (  93,609) 90,707 112,906        -       1,404,514
Interest income 53,098
Net foreign exchange gains 35,945
Finance costs (    39,791)
Profit before taxation from

continuing operations 1,453,766
Taxation ( 376,880)
Profit for the year from 

continuing operations 1,076,886

Other information
Capital expenditure        67,508 240,862 1,720         -              -              -            310,090

Depreciation and amortisation        50,997 150,799 16,921        -            2,043     -            220,760

Segment assets 4,483,541 3,797,479 656,808      45,919 103,009 (3,424,910) 5,656,846

Segment liabilities 1,745,665 1,637,719 88,170 168,940 45,188 (1,822,128) 1,863,554

35. Operating lease arrangements

The Group has entered into agreements for the lease of office spaces and apartments. The annual 
rentals are payable in monthly instalments.

Minimum lease rental commitments are as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 162,095 92,510
Year 2 and 3 324,190 185,021

486,285 277,531

The Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Minimum lease payment under operating
lease recognised as an expense in the year 123,332 98,111
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36. Distributions

(a) Dividends declared and paid:
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Fourth interim dividend paid March 23, 2012 - 5¢ - 131,863
First interim dividend paid June 22, 2012 - 6¢ - 158,235
Second interim dividend paid August 30, 2012 - 8¢ - 210,980
Third interim dividend paid December 14, 2012 - 4¢ - 105,491
Final dividend for 2012 paid March 14, 2013 - 10¢ 263,726 -
First interim dividend paid June 6, 2013 - 8¢ 210,980 -
Second interim dividend paid September 2, 2013 - 3¢ 79,118 -
Third interim dividend declared December 10, 2013 - 3¢ 79,118 -

632,942 606,569

(b) Dividends from subsidiaries:

This represents amounts received or receivable from the Company’s wholly-owned 
subsidiaries.

37. Financial risk management

Financial risk management objectives

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, 
liquidity risk and market risk including interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk. 
Information about the company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the company’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk is detailed below. 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risk and those activities involve the 
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of 
risks. Taking risk is core to the business and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence 
of being in business. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between 
risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means 
of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk 
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best 
practices.

The Group’s activities result in principal exposure to credit, liquidity, market and operational 
risks. An enterprise-wide risk management approach is adopted which involves employees at 
all levels. This framework is supported by sound risk management practices which include the 
establishment of enterprise-wide policies, procedures and limits, monitoring and measurement 
of exposure against established limits, ongoing realignment of business strategies and activities 
and the reporting of significant exposures to senior management and the Board of Directors.
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Group’s risk management framework. The Board’s risk management mandate is principally 
carried out through the Audit Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has oversight for the integrity of the financial statements and reviews the 
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management procedures. The 
Committee also ensures compliance with internal, legal and regulatory policies, identifying, 
monitoring, measuring and reporting significant risk exposure and making recommendations in 
relation to management of risk.

This Board Committee also has direct responsibility for the management of statement of 
financial position risk which includes liquidity, interest rates and foreign currency risks.

(a) Credit risk:

The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that its customers or counterparties
may default and could cause a financial loss for the Group by failure to discharge their
contractual obligations. This arises principally from cash and bank balances, trade
receivables, and long-term receivables. Credit risk is an important risk for the Group’s 
business and management therefore carefully monitors its exposure to credit risk.

The Group controls credit exposure by maintaining a strict collection process. Lottery 
sale agents are required to remit cash collections weekly which are monitored on a 
weekly basis by identification and transfer to designated bank accounts. A process of 
suppression of agent activity is triggered for non-compliance.

(i) Credit review process

The Group’s credit risk is managed through a framework which incorporates the 
following:

Cash and cash equivalent 

The Group maintains cash resources with reputable financial institutions. The 
credit risk is considered to be low. 

Trade and long-term receivables

The Group establishes policies and procedures which govern standards for granting 
credit and the process of continuous monitoring and measurement in relation to 
credit quality through industry delinquency and debt recovery management.

Trade receivables are monitored and managed by the Finance Department in 
collaboration with the Field Area Management team, who has responsibility for 
liaising with the sales agents on behalf of the licensed Group entity.
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (cont’d):

(ii) Impairment

The Finance Department conducts monthly and quarterly assessment of the trade 
receivable balances to determine whether there is a requirement for allowance for 
doubtful debt.  There has been no material change in the Group’s exposure to credit 
risk or the manner in which it measures and manages risk.

(b) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk 
management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities.

(i) Management of liquidity risk

The Board of Directors approves the Group’s liquidity and funding management 
policies and establishes risk limits.

The Group’s Finance Department has direct responsibility for the management of 
the day-to-day liquidity. The Audit Committee provides added oversight of the
Group’s liquidity risk exposure, within the policy and limits frameworks 
established by the Board.

The management of liquidity risk is carried out through various methods which 
include:

- Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that
requirements can be met;

- Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be 
liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow 
within the local and international markets;

- Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal 
and regulatory requirements; and

- Maintenance of liquidity and funding contingency plans.

(ii) Liquidity and interest rate tables

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s contractual maturity for 
its non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities. The table has been 
prepared based on undiscounted contractual maturities of financial assets including 
interest to be earned, except where the Group and the Company anticipates that the 
cash flows will occur in a different period, and in the case of financial liabilities, 
based on the earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be required to 
pay.
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d):

(ii) Liquidity and interest rate tables (cont’d)

The Group
2013

Weighted
average
effective Within 3 3 months 1 to 5 No specific 

interest rate months to 1 year years maturity Total
% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Non-interest bearing 1,160,805 -      -     5,711 1,166,516
Variable interest

rate instruments 4.62 436,898 7,035 37,521 411,434 892,888
Fixed interest rate 

Instruments 8.95 303,247 -      -     - 303,247

1,900,950 7,035 37,521 417,145 2,362,651
Financial liabilities

Non-interest bearing 1,330,844 -      -     - 1,330,844
Interest bearing loan

fixed rate 9.31 40,460 149,204 45,722 -     235,386

1,371,304 149,204 45,722 -    1,566,230

The Group
2012

Weighted
average
effective Within 3 3 months 1 to 5

interest rate months to 1 year years Total
% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Non-interest bearing 844,857 -      14,759 859,616
Variable interest

rate instruments 0.31 756,069 839 361,008 1,117,916
Fixed interest rate 

Instruments 3.11 594,732 -      -      594,732

2,195,658    839 375,767 2,572,264
Financial liabilities

Non-interest bearing 1,306,171 -      -      1,306,171
Interest bearing loan
fixed rate 11.06 43,965 127,486 235,833 407,284

1,350,136 127,486 235,833 1,713,455
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d):

(ii) Liquidity and interest rate tables (cont’d)

The Company
Weighted
average
effective 1 to 3 3 months 1 to 5 Over No specific

interest rate Months to 1 year Years 5 years Maturity Total
% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013
Financial assets
Non-interest bearing 230,719       -            -            -      1,950,123 2,180,842
Variable interest rate

Instruments 4.62 256,537 7,035 37,521 411,434        -       712,527
Fixed interest rate

instruments 9.31 45,427 134,781 373,970 813,883        -       1,368,061

532,683 141,816 411,491 1,225,317 1,950,123 4,261,430

Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing 617,744       -            -            -            -      617,744
Fixed interest bearing

loan 5.66 40,460 149,204 45,722        -              -       235,386

658,204 149,204 45,722        -              -       853,130

2012
Financial assets
Non-interest bearing 446,131       -             -       14,759 1,948,990 2,409,880
Fixed interest rate

instruments 7.69 98,425 33,522 179,998 1,100,931        -       1,412,876

544,556 33,522 179,998 1,115,690 1,948,990 3,822,756

Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing 270,967       -            -             -              -       270,967
Fixed interest bearing

loan 12.00 43,853 125,113 253,864        -              -       422,830

314,820 125,113 253,864        -              -       693,797

There has been no material change in the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk or the 
manner in which it measures and manages risk.

(c) Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices will affect the company’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the 
return on risk. 

The Board and management have responsibility for the monitoring of market risk 
exposures by way of measurements through sensitivity analysis. Market information and 
additional analysis are also used to manage risk exposure and mitigate the limitation of 
sensitivity analysis.
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

(c) Market risk (cont’d):

There has been no material change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner 
in which it manages and measures risk.

(i) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of transactions that are
denominated in a currency other than the Jamaica dollar. The main currencies 
giving rise to the exposure in the current year was the United States Dollar. The 
Group manages foreign currency risk through the establishment of limits for net 
open positions and matching foreign assets and liabilities as far as possible.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by ensuring that the net exposure in 
foreign assets and liabilities is kept to an acceptable level by monitoring currency 
positions. The Group further manages this risk by holding foreign currency 
balances.

The following table summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency 
exchange rate risk:

The Group
2013 2012
US$ US$
‘000 ‘000

Total assets 1,734 6,206
Total liabilities ( 588) ( 312)

Net exposure 1,146 5,894

The Company
2013 2012
US$ US$
‘000 ‘000

Total assets, being net exposure 48 48
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

(c) Market risk (cont’d):

(i) Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

The Group:

The Group's sensitivity to a 1% increase/10% decrease in the Jamaica dollar 
against the USD, CDN and GBP is demonstrated below and represents 
management's assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The 
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign-currency-denominated 
monetary items and adjusts the translation at period end for a 1% increase or 10% 
decrease in the foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity of a 1% increase/10% decrease in the relative value of the Jamaica
dollar on the foreign currency exposure is reflected below:

2013 2012
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
15% 1% 1% 10%

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

USD 18,106 1,207 5,434 54,342
CDN 16 1 1 4
GBP 1 - 1 1
EURO 32 2 - -

18,155 1,210 5,436 54,347

The Company:

The sensitivity of the Company to a 1% increase or a 10% decrease in the Jamaica 
dollar on the net United States dollar exposure would be $0.37 million/$3.70
million (2012: $0.04 million/$0.44 million).

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in interest rates. The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations 
in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash 
flows. Mismatch of positions between assets and liabilities in periods of rising or 
declining interest rates may also result in loss of earnings. Management sets limits 
on the level of mismatch of interest rate re-pricing that may be undertaken. This is 
monitored on a periodic basis.
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

(c) Market risk (cont’d):

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Management of interest rate risk

Interest rate risk exposure is measured using sensitivity analysis. Interest rate risk is 
managed by utilising derivative instruments where necessary and maintaining an 
appropriate mix of variable and fixed rate instruments.

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rates on financial assets and 
financial liabilities are detailed in liquidity risk management [note 37(b)].

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Interest rate sensitivity has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates 
for the Group’s long-term loan receivable and short-term deposits at the end of the 
reporting period as these are substantially the interest sensitive instruments 
impacting the Group’s financial results. For floating rate assets, the analysis 
assumes the amount of asset outstanding at the statement of financial position date 
was outstanding for the whole period. A 400 basis point increase or 100 basis point 
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonable possible 
change in interest rates. 
If market interest rates had been 400 basis points higher or 100 lower and all other 
variables were held constant, the effect on the Group’s net surplus would have been 
as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Effect on net surplus increase 400 basis points 34,321 44,552
Effect on net surplus decrease 100 basis points ( 8,580) 11,138

There has been no material change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the 
manner in which it manages and measures risk.

(iii) Equity risk

Equity risks arise out of price fluctuation in equity prices. This risk arises out of 
holding positions in either individual stocks (non-systemic risk) or in the market as 
a whole (systemic risk). The goal is to earn dividend income and realise capital 
gains sufficient to offset the interest foregone in holding such long-term positions.
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

(c) Market risk (cont’d):

(iii) Equity risk (cont’d)

Management of equity risk

Management sets limits on the level of exposure, and diversification is a key 
strategy employed to reduce the impact on the portfolio, which may result from the 
non-performance of a specific class of assets. Given the potential volatility in the 
value of equities and the non-interest bearing characteristics of these instruments,
limits are set by the Board of Directors on amounts to be invested in them.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to 
equity price risks at the reporting date.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, profit for the year ended December 31, 
2013, would have increased/decreased by $0.383 million (2012: $1.289 million) for 
the Group and the Company.

(d) Capital management:

The capital structure of the Group consist of equity attributable to the shareholders of the 
parent company comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and cash and bank 
balances.

The Group’s objectives when managing its capital structure, which is a broader concept 
than the ‘equity’ on the face of the statement of financial position, are:

(i) To comply with the capital and cash reserve requirements set by the regulators;
(ii) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 

continue to provide returns for stockholders and benefits for other stakeholders; 
and

(iii) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

As of February 28, 2013, the lottery and sports betting licences were re-issued to Prime 
Sports (Jamaica) Limited. Inter alia, the licensing requirements require an equity 
capitalisation of not less than $500 million [see also note 38 (b)]. At the end of the 
reporting period the entity was not in breach of its licensing requirements.

There were no material changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during 
the year.
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

(e) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. A market price, 
where an active market (such as a recognised stock exchange) exists, is the best evidence 
of the fair value of a financial instrument. Market prices are not available for some of the 
financial assets and liabilities of the Group. Fair values in the financial statements have 
therefore been estimated using present values or other estimation and valuation 
techniques based on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. 
Generally, considerable judgment is necessarily required in interpreting market data to 
develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented in these financial 
statements are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Group would realise in a
current market exchange.

The following methods and assumptions have been used:

(i) The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, securities 
purchased under resale agreements, accounts receivable and accounts payable are 
assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their relatively short-term 
nature. The fair value of quoted investments is at market value. This method falls 
within the level 1 fair value hierarchy and is defined as quoted prices (unadjusted) 
in an active market for identical assets. The fair values of other investments are 
assumed to be cost, less provision for impairment

(ii) The carrying value of long-term receivables approximate their fair values as these 
receivables are carried at amortised cost and the interest rates are reflective of 
current market rates for similar transactions.

(iii) Quoted shares classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value by 
reference to quoted market prices. Unquoted shares are stated at cost less 
impairment adjustments.

(iv) The carrying value of long-term loans approximate the fair values as these loans 
are carried at amortised cost reflecting their contractual obligations and the interest 
rates are reflective of market rates for similar loans.
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37. Financial risk management (cont’d)

(e) Fair value of financial instruments (cont’d)

Fair value measurement recognised in the statement of financial position

2013
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Available-for-sale 
financial instruments

Quoted shares 3,828 - - 3,828

2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Available-for-sale 
financial instruments

Quoted shares 12,876 - - 12,876

38. Contingencies and commitments

(a) Contingencies – litigations:

Epsilon Global Equities:

On December 15, 2008 a civil suit was filed by Epsilon Global Equities Limited 
(Epsilon) citing as defendants the Company and its founding shareholders. The matter 
was decided in 2011, with a judgment in favour of the shareholders and the Company. 
Epsilon appealed the judgment. It is expected that the appeal will be heard by November
2014. Attorneys representing the defendants expect the Company to succeed and that the 
appeal will not result in a financial liability to the Company.

Talisman Capital Alternative Investment Fund and EGE Limited:

In August 2012, a civil suit was filed in the Courts of Florida, USA, by Talisman Capital 
Alternative Investment Fund and EGE Limited citing as defendants the Company and 
certain of its shareholders. This suit is in respect of the same issues decided in the 
Supreme Courts in Jamaica in favour of the Company and some of its shareholders (see 
above).

In April 2013, the Federal bankruptcy court in Florida granted a motion by SVL and 
other defendants to dismiss the complaint. The plaintiffs then filed objections to the 
dismissal. Subsequently, the court granted a motion by SVL and other defendants to 
strike the objectives. The plaintiffs then moved for reconsideration of the order. The court 
denied the plaintiffs motion for reconsideration. The plaintiffs have appealed this order. 

The attorneys representing SVL in the USA expect its position to be upheld by the 
Florida Courts, as has been successfully done in the Jamaican Courts.  
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38. Contingencies and commitments (cont’d)

(b) Contingencies - Guarantees:

Pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation of the company and a resolution of the directors, 
the company has issued a duly executed and stamped deed of debenture and a duly 
executed guarantee to the Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Commission (BGLC). The 
Company and the BGLC have agreed that the secured debenture and the guarantee 
constitute compliance by the subsidiary, Prime Sport Jamaica Limited (PSJL), with the 
requirements of the licence granted by BGLC that the equity capitalisation of PSJL be not 
less than $500 million, and PSJL will accordingly be treated as having $500 million of 
shareholders’ equity for the purpose of the condition of the BGLC licence that refer to 
shareholders’ equity. Accordingly, BGLC will hold the Company responsible and liable 
for any breaches of the licence by its subsidiary, PSJL.

(c) Contingencies – Prime Sports Jamaica Limited:

In accordance with requirements of the Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Act to grant 
Bookmakers permit, the subsidiary Prime Sports Jamaica Limited executed a 
performance bond guarantee arrangement with Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited 
(BNS) for an amount of $25.0 million. Under the said performance bond covering the 
period April 14, 2011 to April 13, 2015, BNS would pay on demand any sums which 
may from time to time be demanded by the Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Commission 
up to a maximum aggregated sum of $25.0 million. The bank guarantee is secured by a 
hypothecated term deposit of $25.0 million by the subsidiary, which is included in the 
Group’s cash and bank balances.

(d) Contingencies - Super Lotto Jackpot Liability:

As required under Condition 7 attached to the approval granted by Betting, Gaming and 
Lotteries Commission (BGLC) to promote the multi-jurisdictional game, ‘Super Lotto’, 
the company, as the applicant, has made arrangements for a stand-by financing facility of 
$600 million from Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited. Under the said stand-by facility 
which is renewable annually, BGLC has been identified as the beneficiary in order to 
ensure that a Super Lotto jackpot winner in Jamaica is settled with the prize money and 
also to ensure that the necessary taxes on such a prize payment is settled with the revenue 
authorities in Jamaica.

(e) Commitment - Licence fees to Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Commission (BGLC):

In accordance with conditions attached to the lottery licences granted by BGLC, annual 
licence fees of $26.4 million falls due for payment each year.
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38. Contingencies and commitments (cont’d)

(f) Capital commitments:
The Group

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Furniture, fixtures and equipment - 2,426
Software development 1,982 -
Gaming equipment - 49,261
Leasehold improvements 2,308 18,066

4,290 69,753

(g) Commitments – other:

Commitments in respect of sponsorship agreements by the Group are as follows:

2014 2015 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000

34,500 12,000 10,000

39. Change in accounting policy

On December 31, 2013 the Group changed its accounting policy with respect to freehold land 
and buildings from the revaluation model to the cost model. The change was made on the basis 
that it will result in a more reliable and relevant presentation of the carrying amounts of the 
items in the current economic environment. 

The change in accounting policy was applied retrospectively. The effects of the adjustments are 
detailed below:

The Group
Property and Revaluation Deferred tax Retained 
equipment reserve (assets)/liabilities earnings

$’000 ‘$000 ‘$000 ‘$000
Balances at December 31, 2011

As previously reported 1,965,202 160,350 61,098 1,293,238
Effect of restatement ( 206,727) (160,350) 50,242 3,865

As restated 1,758,475 - 111,340 1,297,103

Balances at December 31, 2012

As previously reported 2,132,985 237,163 315,248 1,755,893
Effect of restatement ( 285,654) (237,163) 56,221 7,730

As restated 1,847,331 - 371,469 1,763,623

Effect on total comprehensive income for
year ended December 31, 2012 $’000

As previously reported 1,146,037
Prior year adjustment (see below) ( 72,948)

As restated 1,073,089
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39. Change in accounting policy (cont’d)

The Group
$’000

Effect on profit for the year ended December 2012
Decrease in depreciation being increase in 

profit for the year 3,865

Effect on other comprehensive income for year ended December 31, 2012
Reversal of deferred tax on revalued property 5,979
Reversal of gain on revaluation of property ( 82,792)

Decrease in other comprehensive income ( 76,813)

The Company
Property and Revaluation Deferred tax Retained 
equipment reserve (assets)/liabilities earnings

$’000 $’000 $’000 ‘$000
Balances at December 31, 2011:

As previously reported 238,265 38,180 37,608 1,018,162
Effect of restatement ( 54,260) (38,180) (17,420) 1,340

As restated 184,005 - 20,188 1,019,502

Balances at December 31, 2012:

As previously reported 202,194 38,206 25,356 1,207,011
Effect of restatement ( 47,428) ( 38,206) (11,902) 2,680

As restated 154,766 - 13,454 1,209,691

Effect on total comprehensive income for year ended December 31, 2012
$‘000

As previously reported 795,444
Prior year adjustment (see below) 1,314

As restated 796,758

Effect on profit for the year ended December 2012
Decrease in depreciation being increase in profit for the year 1,340

Effect on other comprehensive income for year ended December 31, 2012
Reversal of loss on revaluation of property 5,492
Reversal of deferred tax on revalued property ( 5,518)

Decrease in other comprehensive income (        26)
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Ten Largest Shareholders
NAME OF SHAREHOLDER  UNITS

Intralot Caribbean Ventures Limited  1,315,895,445

Ian Kent Levy* 318,929,440

Paul Hoo*  227,568,859

Janette Stewart* 179,622,545

Stephen Roger Castagne 138,360,498

Mayberry CO A/C 120008  89,320,428

Sunfisher Corporation 24,648,118 

Keith Binns* 20,000,000 

JCSD Trustee Services Ltd - A/C 76579-02 19,169,839 

TW Metals Limited 18,257,457

  

* Includes shares held with joint holders
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Directors’ Shareholdings
NAME OF SHAREHOLDER  UNITS

Ian Levy* 318,929,440

Paul Hoo* 227,568,859

Brian George 2,246,647
 
Barrington Chisholm 994,871 

Steven Hudson*                                                                                     587,433

John Graham* 1,000

Georgios Sampson                                                                                       NIL

Nicholas Mouttet NIL               

Nikolaos Nikolakopoulos NIL 

Peter Chin  NIL  
  
Ian Moore  NIL  
 

* Includes shares held by joint holders
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Senior Managers’ Shareholdings
NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS  UNITS

Brian George 2,246,647

James Morrison* 175,550

Sonia Davidson* 31,200

Lorna Gooden* 16,600

Janette Conie 10,000

Andrew Bromley                     4,000 

Michael Smith 2,000

Wayne Boodasingh NIL

Nigel Warmington** NIL

Lancelot Thomas NIL 

Georgios Souris NIL

Vassilis Hadjidiakos NIL

Junett Robinson  NIL

Tashia Hutton NIL

David Chavez                                                                                              NIL

* Includes shares held by joint holders
** Nigel Warmington demitted office on 6th January 2014  
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Registered Office:                          Subsidiaries:
Supreme Ventures Limited Supreme Ventures Lotteries Ltd:      Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited:
4th Floor  4th Floor                              4th Floor 
R Danny Williams Building                R Danny Williams Building               R Danny Williams Building 
28 - 48 Barbados Avenue                  28 - 48 Barbados Avenue                 28 - 48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.                 Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.                  Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I. 
Tel: (876) 754-6526                          Tel: (876) 754-6526                          Tel: (876) 754-6526
Fax: (876) 754-2143                         Fax: (876) 754-2143                         Fax: (876) 754-2143 

                          
Supreme Ventures Limited Supreme Ventures Financial                 Jamaica Lottery Company  
(Knutsford Office):  Services Limited:                              Holdings Limited:     
8th Floor 4th Floor 9A Retirement Crescent
Sagicor Sigma Building R Danny Williams Building Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I. 
63-67 Knutsford Boulevard 28 - 48 Barbados Avenue               Tel: (876) 754-6526 
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I. Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.                 TFax: (876) 754-2143
Tel: (876) 906-8603  Tel: (876) 754-6526                  
Fax: (876) 960-4397                          Fax: (876) 754-2143                         
                                                                                

  Prime Sports (Jamaica)                          Supreme Ventures VL  
   Limited:                                            Holdings Limited:     
  4th Floor,               Pointe Seraphine 
 R Danny Williams Building P.O. Box 195
              28 - 48 Barbados Avenue  St. Lucia, W.I. 
              Kingston 5, Jamaica,W.I.                  
                          Tel: (876) 754-6526
  Fax: (876) 968-4389                          
                                                   

  Bingo Investments Limited                 
  4th Floor                
  R Danny Williams Building                
              28 - 48 Barbados Avenue                 
                 Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.                   
                         Tel: (876) 754-6526                          
                          Fax: (876) 754-2143                          
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Regional
    Centres

Gaming
    Lounges

New Kingston: Spanish Town:        Montego Bay:
1st Floor 37 Young Street                           Shop #F203
R Danny Williams Building                Spanish Town                                   Baywest Shopping Centre
28 - 48 Barbados Avenue                 St. Catherine, Jamaica, W.I.             Harbour Street, Montego Bay
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.                 Tel: (876) 749-3690                          St. James, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 754-6526                          Fax: (876) 749-3691                         Tel: (876) 979-0366/70
Fax: (876) 906-0188                                                                                 Fax: (876) 952-9046

Half Way Tree Road:                      Savanna-la-Mar:                                May Pen:
28 Half Way Tree Road                     Lyons Plaza                                      Shop #25
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I                  74 Great George Street                     Bargain Village Plaza
Tel: (876) 920-3498                          Savanna-la-Mar, Westmoreland         35 Main Street, May Pen
Fax: (876) 960-9417                        Jamaica, W.I.                                    Clarendon, Jamaica, W.I.
                                                        Tel: (876) 918-0232                          Tel: (876) 986-6663                                                               
                                                      Fax: (876) 918-0233                         Fax: (876) 986-1439                             

Acropolis Barbican: Acropolis Cross Roads:                    The Castle:
Barbican Centre Shop #8 State Mall                          5 - 7 Seagrape Close
29 East Kings House Road                15 - 17 Half Way Tree Road             Bridgeport, Portmore
Kingston 5                                        Kingston 5                                        St. Catherine
Jamaica, W.I.                                    Jamaica, W.I.                                    Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 978-1299                          Tel: (876) 906-8719                          Tel: (876) 988-3303  
Fax: (876) 946-9896                         Fax: (876) 908-2837                         Fax: (876) 704-8196

Acropolis May Pen:                        Acropolis Montego Bay Odyssey Gaming Lounge
Shop #25                                         165 Gloucester Avenue Shop CH-7, Market Place
Bargain Village Plaza                         Montego Bay 67 Constant Spring Road
35 Main Street, May Pen                   St. James Kingston 10
Clarendon, Jamaica, W.I.                  Jamaica, W.I. Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 986-6663                          Tel: (876) 952-4130 Tel: (876) 960-2481   
Tel: (876) 986-1439                          Fax: (876) 952-6532 Fax: (876) 754-4134                                       
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Bankers

Attorneys

Auditors

National Commercial Bank   Bank of Nova Scotia              CIBC FirstCaribbean      
Jamaica Limited                              Jamaica Limited                               International Bank
Private Banking                                 2 Knutsford Boulevard         23 Knutsford Boulevard                                           
32 Trafalgar Road                              Kingston 5                                Kingston 5                                            
Kingston 10                                      Jamaica, W.I.                         Jamaica, W.I.
Jamaica, W.I.

Note: Accounts with RBC Royal Bank (Jamaica) Limited were closed in June 2013

John G. Graham & Company   Rattray Patterson Rattray            Livingston Alexander & Levy
7 Belmont Road                                 24 - 26 Grenada Crescent           72 Harbour Street                                           
Kingston 5                              Kingston 5                            Kingston                                             
Jamaica, W.I.                                     Jamaica, W.I.                           Jamaica, W.I.

Tracey A. Hamilton
Suite 6
1D - 1E Braemar Avenue
Kingston 5
Jamaica, W.I. 

External Auditors:   Internal Auditors:
KPMG     PriceWaterhouseCoopers
6 Duke Street               ScotiaCentre                                                                       
Kingston                                 Cnr. Duke & Port Royal Streets                                                                                        
Jamaica, W.I.                                  Kingston, Jamaica, W.I.      
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Corporate
    Secretariat

Supreme Ventures Corporate Secretariat
8th Floor 
Sagicor Sigma Building 
63 - 67 Knutsford Boulevard
Kingston 5                                                                                                        
Jamaica, W.I.                                       
              

Registrar
Jamaica Central Securities Depository Limited
40 Harbour Street                                                                                     
Kingston 5                                                                                                                       
Jamaica, W.I.                                       
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Senior
    Managers

Brian George                                            President & CEO

James Morrison Vice President, Group Finance & CFO

Sonia Davidson  Vice President, Group Corporate Communications
 
Georgios Souris  Vice President, Sports Betting 
 
Wayne Boodasingh  Vice President, Group Properties and Facilities

Andrew Bromley   Vice President, Group Security & Surveillance 
 
Janette Conie  Asst. Vice President, Group Human Resources 
                                                                     
Lancelot Thomas Asst. Vice President, Strategic Planning &  
  Risk Management   
 
Vassilis Hadjidiakos Asst. Vice President, Group Budget &  
  Management Reporting

Nigel Warmington*  Asst. Vice President, Facilities & Maintenance

Michael Smith  Group Information Technology Manager

Tashia Hutton  Group Compliance Manager

David Chavez                                            General Manager, VLT Operations

Lorna Gooden                                          Corporate Secretary

Junett Robinson Assistant Corporate Secretary

* Mr. Nigel Warmington demitted office on 6th January 2014  
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Wayne Matthews    Finance Manager 

Robert Ebanks    Finance Manager

Alrick Shepherd                                         Finance Manager

Deon Dewar-Gray    Treasury Manager  

Carlene Edwards              Sponsorship & Public Relations Manager

Craig Chong                                             Gaming Operations - Acropolis  

Marshalee Mills    Gaming Operations - Acropolis  

Christel Morales-Lewin   Gaming Operations – Odyssey

 
 

Managers



I/we __________________________________________________________________________________________

of ____________________________________________________________________________________________

being a Member/Members of the above-named Company, hereby appoint

_____________________________________________  of   _____________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________ as my/our Proxy

To vote on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at The Knutsford 
Court Hotel (Grand Caribbean Suite), 11 Ruthven Road, Kingston 10, Jamaica, West Indies, on Tuesday, 
3rd June, 2014 at 10:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

Dated the __________________________________ day of _______________________________ 2014.

Signed ________________________________________________________________________________

NOTES:

1. This Form of Proxy must be received by the Secretary of the Company at the 8th Floor, Sagicor  
 Sigma Building, 63-67 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I., not less than 48 hours  
 before the time appointed for the meeting.

2. This Form of Proxy should bear stamp duty of J$100.00 or its equivalent.  Adhesive stamps are to be  
 cancelled by the person signing the Proxy.

3. If the person appointing a Proxy is a Corporation, this Form of Proxy must be executed under the  
 Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorized in writing.

Proxy Form



Supreme Ventures Limited
Corporate Office

4th Floor, R Danny Williams Building
28 - 48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.

Tel: (876) 754-6526
Fax: (876) 754-2143

Email: communications@svlotteries.com
Website: www.supremeventures.com
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